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(A) Assignment #4: Comments and Best Answers from Prior Years
(1) Comments on Spring 2007 Class Discussion & Critiques

(a) General Comments:  The most important lessons suggested by the critiques are that you have to keep your arguments (i) tied to the specific language of the statute; and (ii) connected to the particular legal claims at issue in this problem. Common concerns:


(i) Use of Policy Arguments:  Start your analysis of statutory problems with the text of the statute.  If text is ambiguous or unclear, you can use policy arguments to help resolve the ambiguity.  If the text is unambiguous, you generally will not be able to use policy arguments to convince a court to disregard plain language.  E.g., arguing that habitable living space is very important probably won’t help a tenant if the tenant has not complied with the explicit notice provisions before withholding rent.


(ii) Bad Faith Claims: Several critiques provided extensive arguments that one or both of the parties acted in bad faith.  However, in the abstract, this doesn’t help either side much.  You need to explain how one of the parties can use the bad faith argument to help prevail on one or more of the various eviction issues (dog, aerial, rent, notices).


(iii) Implied Warranty of Habitability:  There is no Implied Warranty in Florida separate from that created by the statute you have.  Thus, in order to prevail on habitability issues, the tenant must rely on specific provisions in he Housing Code and Florida statutes.

(b) Aerial as Violation


(i) 83.52(6):  Defacement:  This is the provision most likely to create a successful claim for the landlord.  First, it’s the claim that she actually made in the notices.  Second, it is likely not to be a very attractive to the outside of the building and so literally within the term “deface.”  Of course, the hanger-antenna is less serious than, e.g., graffiti, because it can be removed easily without significant work or expense.  However, I suspect a court will give a landlord a lot of leeway to decide what the outside of her building is supposed to look like.


(ii) 83.52(5): Unreasonable Use of Electrical Facilities & Appliances:  As some of the critiques noted, this is probably aimed at misuse of things that belong to the landlord.  M might argue it is a misuse of the television, but people used to do this all the time, so unlikely to rise to the level of “unreasonable” contemplated by this provision. The most unreasonable aspect of the aerial is its appearance, which is why “defacement” seems the right claim.


(iii) 83.52(7): Unreasonably Disturb Neighbors; Breach of Peace:  As some critiques noted, this seems aimed at noise, not upsetting their aesthetic sensibilities.  If you rely on this provision, you’d need a good defense of how the neighbors were disturbed. One clever critique noted that if the window looked out on a common outdoor balcony (as is common in Florida apartments), it might get in the neighbor’s way and fall within this provision (“You could poke someone’s eye out!”)

(c) Notices re Lease Violations


(i) One Notice or Two:  

Pet:  The statute is explicit that a tenant gets a right to cure an unauthorized pet. You might successfully argue that a pit bull is unreasonably dangerous and therefore dog owner gets no right to cure.  However, M’s notices don’t suggest she is making this claim.  

Aerial:  Because it is so easy to remove, and it probably doesn’t cause permanent damage, you’d expect tenant to have a right to cure.  However, 83.52(6) mostly addresses pretty harmful stuff and you could try to argue that any claim under that provision only requires one notice.  As I suggested in class, need to try to draw a plausible line to distinguish between activities you can cure and those you can’t.  Review Problem C provides an opportunity to do this.


(ii) Adequacy of First Notice: 

Bad Faith/Inapplicable: If Mrs. Gonzalo is right that an identical notice is sent out annually to all tenants, a court could easily say it doesn’t count at all, because of bad faith.  In addition, a court might find that a tenant has a right to disregard a notice referring to a non-existent pet and an unspecified defacement.

Pet:  Statute is explicit in providing right to cure and it does not require that the tenant had acted in good faith. Some of you argued that the first notice should count because it alerted the tenant to the rule against pets, but I find it hard to believe that a court would allow this because it would encourage landlords to pre-notify of possible future violations and thus undercut the statutory right to cure.

Aerial:  The first notice refers to defacement, but it is not specific.  F might argue that we have no evidence she even had noticed the aerial at that point.  Even if the notice was valid at the time, M continued to collect rent after F failed to respond to first notice, which might be a waiver of claims based on the first notice under 83.56(5).

(4) Notice re Non-Payment of Rent:  [The actual dates given did not provide the required three days, although M waited for more than three days to bring the eviction action.  This presents a pure policy question of whether the landlord should be able to use a faulty notice.]
(5) Landlord Habitability Obligations re Plumbing/Roaches


(i) Housing Codes



Plumbing:  The facts say that the water is often unavailable in a number of apartments including F.  Given that, the problem really can’t have anything to do with F’s maintenance of his own unit. 17-23(1) makes it a housing code violation to not have adequate hot and cold water.  (other provisions like 17-25(6) also might apply).



Roaches:  Under 17-27(7), the tenant is responsible for extermination if his is the only unit infested.  The landlord is responsible if multiple units are infested or the infestation is the owner’s fault.  Whether other units are infested is a fact question to which you have no definite answer, although it’s probably a reasonable inference that if his infestation is very heavy, the roaches are not confined to a single unit in a multi-unit building.


(ii) Florida Statutes:  Under 83.51(1), the landlord has a duty to comply with the housing codes and the duty is not waivable in a multi-unit apartment complex.  The provisions listed in 83.51(2)(a) are waivable, but they are obligations in addition to responsibility for applicable housing codes.  Thus, Miranda cannot waive her responsibilities under the housing code for running water and for extermination if multiple units are infested.

(6) Breach of Habitability Obligations as Defense:   83.60(1) makes clear that you can’t raise a habitability defense in an action for non-payment of rent unless you had given written notice to the landlord of your habitability claim and of your intent to withhold rent.  It is unlikely a court would construe the cockroach note generously enough to meet this requirement, so F probably cannot raise this defense.

(2) SAMPLE STUDENT ANSWERS FROM PRIOR YEARS

The dates were different, but the problems were otherwise the same, except that each team had to make arguments on all issues for their client.
(a) TENANT RESPONSE #1
1. Tenant defends possession of his apartment based on landlord’ failure to provide notice.  May Notice:  Miranda’s May notification to Ferdie violated the good faith requirement of the Florida Residential Landlord & Tenant Act (“FRLTA”) 83.44.  This act obligates landlords to act with good faith in the performance or enforcement of rental agreements.  Miranda violated this good faith requirement with her practice of regularly distributing notices of noncompliance to all tenants at move in and at an interval equal to the expiration of the first notice for violations that require a period to cure.  These notice mailings accuse all the tenants of keeping a pet and of defacing the property.  Miranda sends out these notices with such frequency as to free her of the inconvenience of waiting around for the tenant to cure problems.  By sending out these notices she is attempting to afford herself the opportunity to immediately evict if any tenant ever does deface the property or keep a pet.  Because Miranda is attempting to avoid giving tenants an opportunity to cure by giving all tenants notice, she is acting in bad faith.  Therefore under FRLTA 83.44, the May notice she sent to Ferdie is inoperative.

If this first notice is not found to be inoperative based on 83.44 it still should not be recognized because it did not provide actual notice of the non-compliance.  In the notice Miranda accused Ferdie of defacing the property and of keeping a pet.  At the time of the notice’s arrival, Ferdie did not have a pet and he had not done anything to the building that normally would fall under the category or “defacing.”  A standard interpretation of the term deface implies a permanent destruction or marring of the building.  As the aerial was only a temporary attachment it is reasonable that Ferdie would assume (like the pet), the defacement complaint also did not apply to him.  If Miranda indeed did intend this first notice to be a valid notice to cure, she should have included detail regarding what she believed to be a noncompliance

January 2nd Notice:  The termination notice sent by Miranda to Ferdie on January 2,2003 should be recognized as a first notice received by Ferdie for the reasons above.  The noncompliance stated within this notice under 83.56 (2)(a) and (b), should characterize the nature of noncompliance one in which the tenant should be given an opportunity to cure.  Within this notice Miranda was specific to the issues of noncompliance: the pet and the aerial.  Under the terms 4(h) of his lease, Ferdie was in violation by keeping Caliban in his apartment.  In response to the notice Ferdie acted promptly and corrected his violation by taking Caliban to an animal shelter.  The aerial noncompliance specified within this notice is not in violation of any terms of the lease nor is it in violation of the FRLTA.  In the FLRTA section 83.52 (6) it states that it is the tenant’s responsibility not to destroy, deface, damage, impair or remove any part of the premises.  Ferdie’s aerial is not a permanent fixture and it does not physically harm the building in any of the ways cited within the statute.  Although the aerial may be unsightly and possibly offends every passerby’s sense of good taste, it does not constitute a noncompliance any more than metallic pink mini-blinds in the window would.  Because the aerial is not a noncompliance, Ferdie has no duty to remove it.  As such, on or before Wednesday January 8th , Ferdie had corrected all noncompliance.

January 8th Notice: This notice was invalid because it included an incorrect payment deadline.  Under the FRLTA 83.56 (3) three day notice shall give the tenant three days to pay, not including Saturday, Sunday and legal holidays.  The notice Miranda sent only gave Ferdie two days to pay, (the 9th and the 10th ), and payment was due on or before the 11th .  The 11th was a Saturday and therefore the notice should have given Ferdie until on or before Monday the 13th.  Strictly construed against Miranda this three-day notice should be invalid.


Additionally, because it requested rent payment, it should be construed as a waiver of her right to terminate Ferdie’s lease based on noncompliance.  Under FRLTA 83.56(5) if a landlord accepts rent with actual knowledge of noncompliance by the tenant, the landlord waives his right to terminate the rental agreement.  Miranda’s written notice that rent was due attempted to solicit payment for a period of time that extended well beyond the earlier eviction date.  Whether or not the rent was paid by Ferdie is immaterial.  The notice was delivered past the eviction date, it reflected a continuation of the established terms of the rental agreement, and therefore Miranda waived her right to action and was in fact expecting payment.

2. Tenant defends against nonpayment of rent under 83.60.  Under 83.60 (1) Ferdie should not be evicted because he is seeking to defend himself under the defense of material noncompliance.  Ferdie has provided notice to Miranda of her violations of FRLTA 83.51 (1) and is withholding rent for reasons thereof.  Under 83.56 (b) Miranda’s failure to comply will allow for Ferdie to have his rent reduced by an amount in proportion to the loss of rental value caused by her noncompliance.  Under 83.60 (1) a material noncompliance by Miranda is a complete defense to an action for possession based on non-payment of rent.  It will be the job of a jury and/or the court to determine the diminution in value of the unit during the period of noncompliance.  Ferdie cannot pay rent directly to Miranda at this time because of FRLTA 83.56 (5).  This statute supports the position that if Ferdie were to pay Miranda directly, he would relinquish his right to bring an action for civil damages based on her noncompliance. 

Plumbing:  Under FLRTA 83.51 Miranda must, at all time during Ferdie’s tenancy (a) comply with the requirements of applicable building; housing; and health codes.  Since the Teapot Estates are in Miami-Dade County, the Miami-Dade County Minimum Housing Standards (“Standards”) are the governing provisions outlining Miranda’s responsibilities. Under the Standards 17-23, 17-25(6) and 17-25(8), Miranda has the duty to assure that (a) sinks, lavatories, tubs and showers are supplied with adequate hot and cold water; (b) all plumbing fixtures water pipes, waste pipes and drains are maintained in good sanitary working condition, free from defects, leaks and obstructions.  

Ferdie and other tenants were unable to get water several times a month.  This problem is likely attributed to a plumbing problem within the building.  Although Miranda attempted within term 4(h) of the lease agreement to waive her responsibility to perform any repairs, this term is invalid because this responsibility under 83.51(1) cannot be waived.  Section 83.51(1), provides that the landlord’s responsibilities can be waived in writing only in the case of a single family home or a duplex.  Ferdie rents an apartment in a complex (the Teapot Estates Complex), unit 45D.   Ferdie’s apartment number 45D stands separate of his address, 4657 Prospero Drive.  It is inferred from the nature of the building, (an apartment complex), his apartment number, (45D), and the mention of his neighbors, (Mrs. Gonzalo and others), that Ferdie’s residence is not a single family home or duplex.   Therefore the provisions set forth under 83.51(1) cannot be waived in writing.  Section 83.47 provides where provisions in rental agreement attempt to waive rights, the provisions are void and unenforceable.  Within the lease agreement 4(f) Miranda attempted to waive these duties in stating that the landlord shall have no responsibility to make any repairs of any kind. Clause 4(f) of the Rental Agreement therefore conflicts with duties set forth under 83.51(1) and is unenforceable under 83.47.  

Miranda is in violation of her non-assignable duty to keep the plumbing in working condition.  Under the terms of FRLTA 83.51 (a) this is a repair for which the landlord cannot contract to tenants.  This failure to repair plumbing by Miranda is a violation of FRLTA 83.51(a) and represents an actionable non-compliance.

Cockroaches:  Within the lease agreement Miranda waived her responsibility of extermination and assigned it to Ferdie the tenant.  FRLTA 83.51(2) specifically allows Miranda to waive her duty to exterminate.  However, 83.51(2) would not be the governing law because 83.51(3) provides that if a landlord’s duties set forth under 83.51(1) are the same or greater than that imposed under 83.51(2), the landlord’s duties are set forth under 83.51(1).  As stated above Miranda’s duties under 83.51(1) encompass all applicable building, housing, and health codes, which includes the fairly extensive Miami-Dade County Minimum Housing Standards.  Therefore, Miranda’s responsibilities are greater under 83.51(1) and the Standards will be the governing law.

Under Standards 17-27, Miranda is obligated to exterminate insects and vermin if more than one unit is infested, or if the infestation of the unit is caused by the landlord’s failure to adhere to the “provisions of this article”.  Cockroaches can travel from unit to unit by way of plumbing.  Because other tenants, like Ferdie, couldn’t get water several times a month, it can be inferred that the plumbing between the units is connected.  Such a connection would facilitate an easy avenue for cockroaches to travel from unit to unit.  Additionally, the cockroaches in Miranda’s unit were so big that a pit bull, a bold and ferocious breed, refused to go into the kitchen.  Cockroaches of this size are likely healthy adult cockroaches.  Since healthy adult cockroaches are well known for their ability to reproduce and scatter rapidly, it is very likely that other units in Teapot Estates are also infested.  Such a multi-unit infestation would obligate Miranda to exterminate.  Therefore, landlord Miranda breached her duty to exterminate vermin under the Miami-Dade County Minimum Housing Standards, incorporated under 83.51(a).  

If subsequent facts provide that Ferdie’s unit is the only unit that is infested, Miranda still will bear the responsibility to exterminate due to her failure to adhere to other provisions of the Standards.  When Ferdie assumed the responsibility to exterminate vermin, he only could have reasonably assumed the responsibility to exterminate vermin that might under normal circumstances find a way into his unit.  Because leaky pipes attract vermin and gaps in plumbing fixtures provide a means of entrance for them, it is very possible that the roach infestation Ferdie experienced is a direct result of Miranda’s neglect to repair and maintain the building.  Ferdie, could not have expected that such an extermination lease term would allow his landlord, by ignoring her repair and maintenance responsibilities, to attract cockroaches and provide a means of entry for a cockroach infestation.  If the infestation is caused by maintenance neglect, this neglect should be found as a failure to carry out other provisions of the standards under 17-27.  As such Miranda is responsible for the extermination of roach infestation caused by her failure to perform her obligations. 

3.  Tenant provided notice as required by 83.60(1).  Notice from Ferdie:  Under FRLTA 83.60 (1) for notice to be recognized it must be written, delivered, it must specify the non-compliance and indicate the tenant’s intention of not paying rent thereof. Miranda was put on notice of Ferdie’s complaints and subsequently she received written notice meeting the requirements of 83.60 (1).  Ferdie verbally alerted Miranda to the cockroach infestation and plumbing problems, afterward he sent a note enclosing evidence of the infestation and requesting that she please exterminate.  Both of these activities acted to put Miranda on notice of the existing problem.  Miranda responded only to Ferdie’s verbal complaint and stated that she could not afford to spend the money on the building.  Frustrated by her inaction, on Monday December 30, 2002 Ferdie delivered notice to Miranda by placing a sign in his window stating, “This place is a dump!  Don’t rent here!”  This sign meets the requirements of notice as detailed by 83.60 (1).  The sign clearly was “written”.  Miranda specifically responded to the sign by engaging Ferdie in a shouting match and demanding he take it down.  Miranda’s response shows that she received the message and that it was “delivered”.  The statement “This place is a dump” was a reference to the “non-compliance issues”, the roach infestation and plumbing problems, of which Miranda was already aware.  In stating, “Don’t rent here”, Ferdie was succinctly stating that he was intending to withhold rent and that he was encouraging others to do the same.

4.  Tenant defends on the basis of retaliatory action by landlord.  Section 83.60 provides that a tenant may raise the defense of retaliatory conduct under 83.64.  Under 83.64, the tenant’s conduct must be in good faith.  Unlike a defense for noncompliance with 83.51(1), there is no requirement of written notice.

Retaliation from Notice:  Ferdie asserts that he is being retaliated against because he hung a sign stating, “This place is a dump!  Don’t rent here.”  Ferdie’s decision to create and post this notice is a direct result of his frustration with Miranda’s repeated noncompliance with the Standards minimum housing requirements.  Ferdie had asked Miranda several times to fix the plumbing and exterminate the roaches only to be refused.  Miranda’s repeated inaction over the period of eight months prompted Ferdie’s action, and therefore Ferdie justly asserted his rights in good faith.   Ferdie’s action should be classified within the activities for which a landlord cannot retaliate under the examples of conduct in 83.64 as both; complaining to the landlord 83.64(c) pursuant to 83.56(1), and encouraging a tenants’ organization 83.64(b).

 
The date the eviction was sent and the noncompliance included within the notice further support the conclusion that this eviction was retaliation against Ferdie.  Miranda delivered the eviction notice on the first unofficial non-holiday day after she noticed the sign.  It is unlikely that his is a coincidence.  Additionally, Miranda noted the makeshift antenna as noncompliance within the eviction notice.  Since Miranda was the owner and the manager of the building, presumably every time a potential tenant had wanted to see the building she would have visited the premises.  It is therefore likely she had been on the premises several times during Ferdie’s eight-month residence at the Teapot Estates.  Therefore, both in her written notice and in her oral conversations with Ferdie Miranda would have had many opportunities to express any concern she had regarding the aerial.  Until the eviction notice however, Miranda never directly indicated she believed the aerial to be a problem.

5.  Landlord cannot defend eviction based on non-payment of rent.  Miranda cannot defend this as retaliation for nonpayment because under the terms of the lease at the time the eviction had been sent out, payment of rent was not yet due, and would not be due for an additional three days.  As no defense is available to Miranda this eviction notice should be deemed a retaliatory action, and Ferdie should be able to defend himself under 83.60.

6.  Landlord should not be granted a variance due to extreme hardship under Standards 17-3 and 17.6( 7.1).  Miranda may argue that she should be granted a variance under extreme hardship 17-3 and 17.6(7.1) because she cannot afford to spend more money on the building, she will likely fail in that defense since running water is essential to modern living.  Under 17.6(7.1), an extreme hardship variance will be considered if the improvements will result in a great economic detriment to the owner, while providing commensurately little benefit to the occupants and public.  However, water is essential for drinking, cooking, bathing, waste removal, and cleaning.  The expectation of working plumbing and running water has been used as the standard that sets apart developing countries from Western civilizations.  The ongoing lack of running water, several times a month, is of much greater significance than having one too few smoke detectors or having lighting that is a few footcandles less of the minimum requirement.  Thus, Miranda cannot successfully argue that providing running water on a regular basis provides commensurately little benefit to the occupants and public since reliable plumbing is the cornerstone of modern, sanitary, Western living. Therefore, Miranda should not be granted a variance for her obligations set forth under 83.51(1).

7.  Legislative Intent and policy supports tenant.  Under 83.60, a tenant may also raise any other defense, whether legal or equitable.   While 83.51(1) mandates compliance with the Standards, Ferdie argues that under equity principles that his action against Miranda should prevail since it is consistent with the legislative intent of the Standards.  Further, the legislature stated in its intents that the purpose of the Standards is remedial for the protection of the public interest, and for that matter, the Standards are to be liberally construed to effect that purpose (17-3).   

Since the legislative intent of these standards is to prevent the creation of slums, deterioration of social values, curtailment of investment and tax revenues, and impairment of economic values (17-2), it is unlikely that the legislature intended allowing a landlord of greater bargaining power, knowledge of legal process, and control of the limited housing market the power to circumvent these critical intents by strategically manipulating the FLRTA .  In this case, Miranda has attempted a retaliatory eviction against Ferdie for asserting his rights by circumventing the 83.56(2)(b) requirement of providing notice to cure.  By clearing this hurdle to remove troublemakers, Miranda can continue to collect rent as a slumlord without disturbance.  In addition, by having superior knowledge of legal process, Miranda was able to send off an eviction notice prior to Ferdie having an opportunity to discuss legal process with an attorney.  Therefore, since the legislative intent is to liberally enforce these Standards in order to protect the public health, safety, welfare and morals, it is unlikely the legislature would approve of ruling in favor of Miranda because she, in bad faith, was able to follow the letter of the law, but not the spirit of it.  

Therefore, since the legislative intent of the Minimum Housing Standards is to remediate substandard housing, the court should favor Ferdie’s action and public protest against Miranda’s propagation of sub-standard slum housing.  Further, since the Minimum Housing Standards provide that it is the duty of municipal departments, officials, and employees to remediate these unfit dwellings, the officers of the court, as municipal officials, have the duty to take action.  It would be contrary to legislative intent to rule in favor of Miranda due to a minor technical detail, such as denying a legally unsophisticated tenant relief because he did not use “The Magic Words” in his notice.  

Further, since Ferdie signed a one-year lease, his options are (1) commit trespass, accept liability, and incur expenses to be reaped by the landlord in order to live in a minimally habitable residence, (2) live in sub-standard housing until his lease expires, (3) incur expenses, inconvenience, and risk of finding a new home in a tight market by breaking his lease, or (4) fight a legally savvy landlord in court who has attempted to block his written notice of noncompliance with 83.51(1) and evict Ferdie in retaliation by circumventing the notice requirements set forth in 83.56(2)(b).  Since Ferdie has been backed into a legal corner to his surprise and detriment, equity should weigh Ferdie’s case in a light most favorable to him.

(b) TENANT RESPONSE #2

In order to remain in the apartment, Ferdie must prevail on arguments against Miranda’s action for possession. Miranda’s action for possession will be based on the termination of the rental agreement because of Ferdie’s failure to pay rent, and/or his failure to comply with statutory requirements or material provisions of the lease (§83.59(1)). To retain possession, Ferdie must show that the lease agreement has not been terminated, or that he has another valid defense such as Miranda’s material noncompliance with §83.51(1), retaliatory conduct (§83.64), or an equitable defense (§83.60).

Ferdie’s Failure to Pay Rent

Validity of Miranda’s 3-day Notice:  Ferdie should retain possession of the apartment because Miranda’s notice of January 8, 2003 to “pay rent or quit” does not comply with the form specified in §83.56(3) and therefore this notice does not serve to terminate the lease. Miranda’s notice was delivered on January 8, 2003 and demands “payment within three days…..on or before the day of January 11, 2003.” The statute requires such notice to read: “payment of the rent or possession of the premises” [emphasis added]. Significantly, the three days are required by §83.56(3) to exclude weekends and holidays, so the earliest date that the statute allows Miranda to demand payment is Monday, January 13, not Saturday, January 11. These departures from the specified form are substantial because they inform the tenant that he must pay rent and has no option to vacate, and because they eliminate one third of the three business days within which Ferdie is obligated to act. Miranda has not given Ferdie proper notice to “pay rent or quit” and therefore Ferdie should retain possession of the apartment since the lease agreement has not been terminated.

Defenses for Failure to Pay Rent:  Since Ferdie has not paid the rent due in accordance with the lease agreement, a defense of payment is not available to him. Instead, within five days after the date of service of Miranda’s process, Ferdie must pay the accrued rent alleged in Miranda’s complaint into the registry of the court or file a motion for the court to determine the amount of rent to be paid (§83.60(2)). By doing this, he will avoid waiving his other defenses and prevent Miranda from obtaining a writ of possession without further notice or hearing. Provided Ferdie complies with the requirements of §83.60(2) he can raise defenses against Miranda’s action on the grounds that Miranda failed to meet her obligation to maintain the premises (§83.51), that she engaged in retaliatory conduct (§83.64), or that he should remain in possession of the apartment because of Miranda’s failure to act in good faith (§83.44), an equitable defense (§83.60).

Obligation to Maintain Premises - Habitability Defense: Material non-compliance with §83.51(1) is a complete defense to an action for possession based on the non-payment of rent (§83.60(1)), but to avail himself of this defense, seven days must elapse after Ferdie delivers to Miranda a written notice specifying the noncompliance and indicating his intention not to pay rent.

Ferdie’s Notice of Miranda’s Noncompliance:  Ferdie provided notice of Miranda’s noncompliance with §83.51(1) by delivering two written notices. The first written notice was delivered before December 30, 2002 and said: “Please exterminate!” These words together with the inclusion of a large cockroach in the note presented Miranda with Ferdie’s complaint regarding her failure to exterminate vermin in the building. (Miranda’s duty to exterminate is discussed below.) The second written notice was delivered on December 30, 2002 and consisted of a sign in Ferdie’s window that said: “THIS PLACE IS A DUMP! DON’T RENT HERE!”

The facts show that Miranda read and understood the sign to signify Ferdie’s decision to take action to compel Miranda to fulfill her obligation to maintain the premises. A shouting argument ensued between Miranda and Ferdie and it can be inferred that Ferdie told Miranda that he did not intend to pay rent until she corrected the problems. It is also certain that Ferdie told Miranda that the place was a dump because of problems with the plumbing, not getting water, and the roach infestation. Ferdie had complained to Miranda about these problems before and his sign in the window was a written notice of his accumulated verbal complaints, a notice that was clearly understood by Miranda to signify Ferdie’s contention that she should fix the plumbing so that water was readily available and that she should exterminate the roaches.

These two written notices, and the verbal interactions that accompanied them, provided sufficient notice to Miranda to meet the intent of §83.60(1) because they made clear the specific habitability issues (roach infestation and plumbing problems), were written, albeit somewhat informally, and were delivered seven days or more before Ferdie raised the habitability defense. Therefore, Ferdie should be free to raise defenses related to §83.51(1) as well as other defenses against Miranda’s attempted termination of the lease agreement as permitted by §83.60. To hold otherwise, would deny unsophisticated tenants like Ferdie a reasonable opportunity to present important facts to the court. Also note that although the statutes specify specific forms for the notices from landlord to tenant (§83.56(2-3)) they do not provide specific forms for notices from tenant to landlord (§83.60). This indicates that the statutory intent was to allow any reasonable notice from tenant to landlord to be acceptable. Here Ferdie’s notices to Miranda clearly conveyed the required information and intentions and should be found to be acceptable under the standards established by the statutes.

Miranda Cannot Waive Her Responsibilities:  Provision (4)(f) of the lease agreement attempts to relieve Miranda of any responsibility for the extermination of vermin and for her responsibility to make any repairs of any kind to any part of the building. However, §83.47(1)(a) clearly states that a provision in the rental agreement is void and unenforceable to the extent that it waives the requirements set forth in these statutes. Furthermore, §83.51(3) stipulates that where the duty imposed by subsection (1) of §83.51 is the same or greater than that imposed by subsection (2), subsection (1) prevails. Thus §83.51(1) controls and §83.51(1)(a) establishes minimum landlord responsibilities as identified in the Miami-Dade County Minimum Housing Standards. Miranda must fulfill the obligations of the landlord delineated in these regulations. She is not allowed to contract them away in the lease agreement.

Material Noncompliance with Obligation to Maintain Premises:  Miranda has failed to comply with the applicable housing codes (Miami-Dade County Minimum Housing Standards) as required by §83.51(1)(a), because of problems with the supply of water to Ferdie’s apartment and because of Miranda’s failure to exterminate the roaches. The facts show that Ferdie’s apartment, as well as other apartments in the complex, are without water service several times a month. Because other apartments are affected in addition to Ferdie’s, the plumbing problem is not within Ferdie’s apartment but is instead a common problem, one that Miranda, as landlord, has an obligation to fix. The statutes require adequate cold and hot water supply to fixtures (Sec. 17-23(1)), require fixtures to be properly connected with hot and cold water lines (Sec. 17-23(4)), and require plumbing fixtures and pipes to be maintained in good working condition (Sec. 17-25(6)). Miranda’s noncompliance is material because it occurs often, several times a month, and completely disables an important utility service. Therefore, Ferdie has a complete defense against Miranda’s action for possession based on non-payment of rent (§83.60), and Ferdie should be entitled to a rent reduction as well as to remain in possession of the apartment.

Miranda also failed to meet her obligations under §83.51(1)(a) and the Miami-Dade County Minimum Housing Standards with respect to the roach infestation. An occupant is responsible for extermination whenever his dwelling unit is the only one infested (Sec. 17-27(7)). However, it is virtually impossible that a roach infestation in an apartment complex will be limited to a single dwelling unit, and responsibility for extermination in such cases must be the responsibility of the owner. Extermination will only be effective if it includes all of the affected units as well as the common areas of the complex. The statute does not expressly identify the party responsible for extermination when multiple units are infested, however because of the policy favoring safe and sanitary living conditions, Sec. 17-27(7) must be read to require that if more than one unit is infested it becomes the responsibility of the owner or landlord to exterminate. The owner has a duty to maintain the premises in a clean and sanitary manner fit for human habitation and this naturally includes extermination of vermin (Sec. 17-27(1)). Miranda’s failure to exterminate the roaches is a material noncompliance with the applicable housing standards and provides another habitability defense against Miranda’s action for possession of the apartment for Ferdie’s failure to pay rent.

Lease Violations

Florida allows termination of a rental agreement if the tenant materially fails to comply with §83.52 or material provisions of the rental agreement. Miranda asserted that Ferdie did not so comply when she sent two notices to Ferdie. The first notice received in May of 2002, one week after Ferdie moved into the apartment, claimed that (1) Ferdie defaced the property, but did not specify how or in what manner, and (2) that Ferdie was keeping a pet. The second notice received on January 2, 2003 alleged that (1) Ferdie defaced the property by placing an aerial on the property and (2) Ferdie was keeping a pet in violation of the lease.

Ferdie’s Pet Dog Caliban:  Ferdie should be allowed to retain possession of the premises because his violation of the lease agreement by keeping a pet was a noncompliance of such a nature that he should be given an opportunity to cure it, which he did (§83.56 (2)(b)). The statute specifically lists permitting unauthorized pets as an activity in contravention of the lease that the tenant should have an opportunity to correct within 7 days from the receipt of a notice of noncompliance. The parties have agreed that Ferdie did not have a pet when the first notice from Miranda was received. Therefore, this first notice did not inform Ferdie of a noncompliance with the lease because there was no pet and hence no noncompliance. A writing cannot provide notice of a fact which is not true. The second notice from Miranda correctly identified that Ferdie was in violation of the lease by keeping a pet. This notice was received on January 2, 2003. Before seven days elapsed, Ferdie removed his pet dog Caliban from the apartment. Ferdie is currently acting in compliance with the provision of the lease not to keep pets and Miranda should not be allowed to regain possession of the apartment on this basis (§83.56 (2)(b)).

Ferdie’s Television Aerial:  Ferdie should be allowed to retain possession of the premises because he has not defaced the property by constructing a television aerial out of wire hangers and placing it out his front window. Ferdie has not damaged, destroyed, or misused the landlord’s property with the aerial (§83.56(2)(a)). Defaced property is generally identified as property that has been marred or damaged. Ferdie did not mar or damage the property with the aerial because the property could easily be restored to its original condition simply be removing the aerial.

In addition, the aerial was in place before Miranda sent Ferdie the first notice claiming that he was defacing the property in violation of the lease agreement. After he received the first notice, Ferdie did not remove the aerial and Miranda did not follow through with the threatened lease termination. This implies that Miranda did not consider the aerial to be a violation of the lease, or that if she did consider it a violation, she waived Ferdie’s obligation to comply by not insisting upon compliance. It would not be in keeping with the intent of the notice requirement of the Landlord and Tenant Act to allow the landlord to waive her right to demand compliance and then months later to evict the tenant without providing the notice specifically required in the Act (§83.56(2)).

Retaliatory Conduct

Evidence of retaliatory conduct may be raised by Ferdie as a defense to Miranda’s action for possession (§83.60). An attempt to terminate a tenant’s lease is unlawful if it is primarily because the landlord is retaliating against the tenant (§83.64). Listed examples of conduct for which the landlord may not retaliate include complaints to the landlord pursuant to §83.56(1) which specifically refers to tenants complaints that the landlord has not maintained the premises under §83.51(1). Here, Ferdie has complained to the landlord informally, verbally, in writing and ultimately by placing a sign in his window. Ferdie’s complaints allege that Miranda was not properly maintaining the apartment complex as required by §83.51(1). Ferdie’s sign in the window represented a significant escalation of his complaints and had a direct impact on Miranda’s business as a landlord because his sign caused a prospective tenant to leave the complex.

Miranda sent a notice to terminate Ferdie’s lease just two business days after Ferdie put up the sign and the resulting verbal altercation. This notice of termination was purported to be based on Ferdie’s television aerial and pet dog Caliban. Ferdie put up the aerial when he first arrived and had kept his pet dog in his apartment for several months. It is extremely unlikely that Miranda did not know of the dog Caliban before the altercation with Ferdie over the sign since it is nearly impossible to keep a big dog like Caliban, a pit bull, a secret for months. From the timing of the notice of termination it can be inferred that Miranda was attempting to evict Ferdie from the apartment complex primarily in retaliation for putting a sign in his window to complain about the conditions. This is precisely the type of tenant behavior that is protected by §83.64. Miranda’s attempts to terminate the lease agreement, and her later action to evict Ferdie for failure to pay rent, were carried out with the intent to remove Ferdie from the apartment complex in retaliation for his complaints and are unlawful under §83.64. This evidence of retaliatory conduct provides a strong defense against Miranda’s action for possession and supports the conclusion that Ferdie should remain in possession of the apartment.

Obligation to Act in Good Faith

Both the landlord and the tenant have an obligation to act in good faith during the performance and enforcement of a rental agreement (§83.44). Miranda has failed to honor this obligation in four ways:

(1)  The lease agreement, that she prepared, attempts to eliminate her responsibility to make any repairs to the complex, in particular repairs which are naturally expected to be the responsibility of the landlord and which are, in fact, the responsibility of the landlord under the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act. Within the statutes it is not possible to contract away these landlord responsibilities and it demonstrates “bad faith” to attempt to do so.

(2)  Miranda has ignored her responsibilities to maintain the facilities by not solving the water supply problem and by not exterminating the roaches. She demonstrated “bad faith” by refusing to address these problems and claiming that they were not her responsibility.

(3)  By sending every tenant a notice of lease violation when they first moved in, and every year thereafter, it can be inferred that Miranda’s intent was to be able to evict any tenant, essentially at will, over a minor infraction. Two notices, and two minor infractions, are required by the statutes, but with the first notice in place, Miranda has every tenant halfway out the door. This conduct demonstrates a disregard for the rules and procedures established in the Florida Residential Landlord and Tenant Act and provides evidence of a “bad faith” attempt to circumvent them.

(4)  In Miranda’s attempted eviction of Ferdie she initially relied on Ferdie’s putting up a television aerial and keeping a pet dog, both minor infractions and both in evidence for several months before the attempted eviction. The timing of her actions shows that Miranda wanted to evict Ferdie because he put up a sign in his window that said: “THIS PLACE IS A DUMP! DON’T RENT HERE!” not because of the aerial or the pet dog. Miranda was acting in “bad faith” when she attempted to enforce the lease agreement under these false pretenses.

Miranda has acted in “bad faith” in the performance and enforcement of the rental agreement with Ferdie. To remove Ferdie from the apartment at this time would be to reward the “bad faith” actions of Miranda and would insult our common notions of fairness and justice. This evidence provides an equitable defense for Ferdie’s failure to pay rent and for this reason he should retain possession of the apartment.

Unconscionable Rental Agreement

Finally, Ferdie should prevail in this case, because the root cause of the dispute with Miranda is a lease provision that should not be enforced by the courts. Miranda told Ferdie she wasn’t responsible under the lease for repairs to the building water supply or for the extermination of roaches. This lease provision is unconscionable. The lease agreement, as a form contract presented on a “take it or leave it” basis to all tenants, is a contract of adhesion. Since the provision disclaiming the landlord’s responsibility for “any repairs of any kind to any part of the building” is unreasonably harsh, one-sided, and unfair to the tenants, the contract provision is unconscionable. Ferdie was within his rights to complain and object to such an unconscionable provision, and even to withhold rent following notice to the landlord. It would be an unjust and outrageous result if Ferdie, as a result of this dispute, should be evicted from his living space. Ferdie should remain in possession of his apartment at this time.

(c) LANDLORD RESPONSE

The Florida Residential Landlord & Tenant Act applies to Miranda’s action for possession of Ferdie’s apartment because Ferdie rented the apartment from Miranda as a residence, which is a type of  “dwelling unit.” 83.41, 83.43(2)(a)  Miranda is allowed to recover possession because she terminated the rental agreement in her January 2 notice, the required seven day grace period passed, and Ferdie had not vacated the apartment as January 14.  83.59(1)  Miranda should be awarded possession of the apartment because the right of possession belongs to her, not Ferdie, as required by 83.59(3)(a).

The first issue supporting Miranda’s right of possession is Ferdie’s breach of lease provision (4)(h), which prohibits pets.  Ferdie violated this provision by buying a pit bull, Caliban, and keeping it in the apartment for over six months.  Pet violations are usually governed by 83.56(2)(b), which grants the tenant a seven day period to cure the noncompliance.  However, the circumstances surrounding Ferdie’s pet violation make it more appropriately governed by 83.56(2)(a), which allows immediate termination of the lease.  

83.56(2)(a) governs, among other things, subsequent violations that occur “within 12 months of a written warning by the landlord of a similar violation.”  Miranda’s first notice acts as such a warning because it warns Ferdie not just of a similar violation, but of the exact violation he later repeats: “keeping a pet in violation of the lease.”  

Although Ferdie was not actually violating the no-pets clause when the first notice was served, this should not diminish the effect of the warning.  Violations for which a warning has previously been given are punished more harshly because the tenant chooses to repeat conduct he genuinely knows is specifically forbidden by the landlord.  Thus, in regard to treating subsequent violations more harshly, Miranda’s warning serves its purpose: it specifically identifies keeping pets as a forbidden act and identifies the punishment for later violations.  Therefore, Ferdie’s buying a pit bull with this specific knowledge of the wrongfulness of his conduct should be punished as a subsequent violation.  Further, 83.56(2)(a) requires 12 months to pass after a warning before a subsequent violation is not grounds for immediate termination.  Ferdie bought his pit bull a mere one month after the first notice, when the warning was still fresh in his mind.  

Also, Miranda’s distribution of such a warning to each new tenant does not mean it can be taken lightly.  It states termination as a consequence of future violations in clear and understandable language, just as the model warning in 83.56(2)(b) does.  Such grave language should be taken seriously by any tenant and contested if not justified.  Ferdie, by contrast, read and understood the warning but chose to ignore it.  His silence was, in effect, an acceptance of the warning and its terms.  Thus, Ferdie’s purchase of a pit bull one month after the first notice constitutes a subsequent violation and, therefore, Miranda’s immediate termination of the lease was justified under 83.56(2)(a).

83.56(2)(a) also governs “destruction” and “damage” of the property which is a significant burden for the landlord whereas 83.56(2)(b) governs less burdensome conduct like parking and cleanliness violations.  The pit bull, although it has not yet damaged the property, is nonetheless a significant burden for the landlord because it exposes the landlord to potentially crushing liability.  Pit bulls are known for their aggressiveness and deadliness, Ferdie even admits he bought Caliban as protection against muggers.  If Caliban were to wrongfully attack someone on the premises, Miranda may be liable for that person’s injuries.  Given that Miranda cannot afford to spend more money on the apartment building, a personal injury or wrongful death suit against her would be devastating.  Further, if Ferdie retains possession of his apartment, he could easily go to the animal shelter and get the pit bull back.  Finally, it would be difficult for Miranda to discover whether Caliban had returned because, under 83.53, Miranda cannot easily enter Ferdie’s apartment without his consent.  Thus, Caliban is such a liability to Miranda that his mere existence creates a significant burden on her and, therefore, Ferdie’s pet violation is grounds for immediate termination under 83.56(2)(a).

Ferdie may argue the pit bull was necessary to protect himself against neighborhood muggings, but this is unpersuasive.  There are several other ways to protect oneself against muggings that do not violate the lease: walking in well-lit areas, carrying pepper spray or other type of weapon, organizing a neighborhood watch, or complaining to the police.  Even if the premises are unsafe because, for example, there is inadequate lighting, 83.56(1) explains that Ferdie’s remedy is to deliver written notice of the problem to Miranda, not to resort to self-help solutions such as buying a pit bull.

The second issue supporting Miranda’s right of possession is Ferdie’s homemade wire antenna.  Ferdie’s antenna, made of wire hangers and sticking out his front window, violates his obligation to not “deface” property under 83.52.  Although the antenna has not physically damaged the property, it is still defacing it because it has negatively changed the appearance of the property, the same way garbage scattered in front of the apartment would.  A homemade wire antenna is an eyesore, it makes the complex and its tenants look cheap and uncared-for.  Like violations of the rental agreement, violations of 83.52 are also subject to action by the landlord under 83.56(2)(a) and (b).  Like the pet violation, the wire antenna is more appropriately governed by 83.56(2)(a).

Like subsequent violations, 83.56(2)(a) governs continuing violations that occur “within 12 months of a written warning by the landlord of a similar violation.”  The antenna is a continuing violation because Miranda’s first notice warned Ferdie that he was “defacing property,” most likely in reference to the antenna.  

Although the warning did not state what was causing the noncompliance, this does not diminish the effect of the warning.  83.56(2)(b) states that, with regard to the violation, such a warning only needs to specify “the noncompliance.”  This is what Miranda’s warning did when she stated he was “defacing property,” as opposed to other possible noncompliances such as damaging property, failure to remove garbage from the apartment, or parking in an unauthorized manner.  83.56 does not require the landlord to specify what conduct is causing the noncompliance.  The Florida legislature probably excluded this requirement to prevent the tenant’s abuse of the warning system.  For example, if Miranda had cited “the wire antenna in your front window” as the conduct causing the noncompliance, Ferdie could fix the violation by replacing the wire antenna with an aluminum foil antenna, moving the antenna to another window, or arguing the wires were a “receiver” rather than an “antenna.”  This result is obviously undesirable because the tenant has resolved the cited noncompliance but the underlying defacing of the property remains.

Also, Ferdie’s failure to realize what the defacing warning was in reference to does not diminish its effect either.  Since the warning was given only one week after he moved in, there could have only been a small number of modifications he made to the apartment, especially those easily visible from the outside.  Ferdie should have reasonably known his homemade antenna was a possible cause of the defacing warning, even if it met his own standards of acceptable behavior.  Given the notice’s serious language, Ferdie should have at least asked Miranda what was causing the noncompliance.  As with the pet violation, his silence and choice to ignore the warning acted as an acceptance of its terms.  Thus, Ferdie’s failure to remove the antenna constitutes a continuing violation and, therefore, Miranda’s immediate termination of the lease was justified under 83.56(2)(a).

Ferdie may also argue that Miranda accepted his rent for the months of June through December while knowing about the defacing violation caused by his antenna and, thus, 83.56(5) prohibits her from terminating his lease based on that violation.  This argument is without merit because the antenna is a continuing noncompliance.  83.56(5) states that by accepting rent with knowledge of a noncompliance, the landlord waives her right to terminate the lease for that noncompliance, “but not for any subsequent or continuing noncompliance.”  Assuming Ferdie paid his December rent on time, the last possible time Miranda could have accepted rent from Ferdie was December 5.  But the antenna remained unchanged outside Ferdie’s window through December and into January, making it a continuing noncompliance.  Since the noncompliance continued after the last time Miranda accepted rent from Ferdie, she is not barred from terminating the lease based on that noncompliance.

Even without the first notice, the antenna, as well as the “THIS PLACE IS A DUMP! DON’T RENT HERE!” window sign, should be treated as a continuing violation because there is no indication Ferdie will take them down, even if given the opportunity.  He refused to take them down when Miranda asked him to, he did not take them down in an attempt to appease Miranda when she served him a termination notice, and, given the apparent bad blood between him and Miranda, he surely will not take them down as long as he is a tenant there.  Thus, if Ferdie is granted possession of the apartment, Miranda will most likely serve him more notices until they end up in litigation again.  Therefore, for the sake of efficiency and minimizing eviction actions, Miranda should be granted possession of the apartment. 

The third issue supporting Miranda’s right of possession is the sign in his window.  Even if not a continuing violation, the sign is such a flagrant violation it should fall under 83.56(2)(a) and not be given an opportunity for correction.  The sign is a direct, negative message to prospective tenants and thus an attack on the success of the complex.  Although it does no physical damage to the property, the sign’s eventual result is the same: it damages the complex’s financial position, just like a hole in a wall which costs money to repair.  The sign, however, is much more damaging than the physical damage most tenants would ever produce.  Each prospective tenant it deters is a potential loss of many years of revenue.  Further, the sign has no constructive purpose.  Unlike damage done to a wall when a tenant uses nails to hang up a painting, the sign was not part of or even a by-product of Ferdie’s use and enjoyment of his premises.  It was displayed with the sole intention of “getting back” at Miranda and the complex.  Thus, the sign is so destructive and flagrant, it should fall under 83.56(2)(a) as a violation that is grounds for immediate termination.

Ferdie may feel the sign was necessary to get Miranda to pay attention to his apartment’s problems with running water and his requests to exterminate roaches, but this argument is unpersuasive.  Under 83.51(4), Miranda is not responsible to Ferdie for conditions created by his own conduct.  Since there are no facts to indicate other tenants had roach problems or that the roaches were present because Miranda kept the property dirty, the roaches may be a result of Ferdie’s conduct.  Because the roaches were in his kitchen, it is possible that the roaches were attracted to food or garbage in his inadequately cleaned kitchen.  Further, under 83.52(2) and (3), Ferdie is obligated to keep the apartment clean and remove garbage in a sanitary manner.  If the roaches were present because Ferdie kept the kitchen dirty, he would also be violating his obligations as a tenant and creating a liability for Miranda because the roaches could be expensive to exterminate if they spread to other units in the complex.  Thus, the roaches may be entirely Ferdie’s fault and yet more evidence of his misconduct.

It is also possible that Ferdie caused the plumbing problems, in which case the same rules noted above would apply.  But, since other tenants also complained they could not get water several times a month, the problem is most likely not a result of Ferdie’s conduct.  Under 83.51(1)(b) Miranda must keep the plumbing in “reasonable working condition.”  Although Ferdie says the plumbing did not work “several” times a month, this may only amount to a minor inconvenience.  For example, if the toilet does not flush 5 times per month but Ferdie uses the toilet 3 times per day, or 90 times per month, the toilet is fully operational for more than 94% of the month.  Such a situation may be an inconvenience, but it certainly does not mean the plumbing is not in reasonable working condition.  Also, Mrs. Gonzalo has lived in the complex for 22 years, if there were serious, continued plumbing problems, she would have probably moved by now.  Thus, Ferdie’s problems may be exaggerated and the plumbing could easily be in reasonable working condition.

Although it may be rude, Miranda’s lack of attention to Ferdie’s problems is completely within the terms of the lease and the Florida Landlord & Tenant Act.  83.51(2)(a) explains that a landlord is responsible for the extermination of roaches and for functioning “running water,” “unless otherwise agreed in writing.”  Miranda and Ferdie had such an agreement in writing:  provision (4)(f) of Ferdie’s lease says Miranda has “no responsibility to make any repairs of any kind to any part of the building” and the “extermination of vermin” shall be Ferdie’s “sole responsibility.”  Although (4)(f) may not be entirely enforceable because, under 83.51(1) and 83.45, some landlord responsibilities are non-transferable, it is enforceable with respect to extermination of roaches and running water because responsibility for those items is clearly listed as being transferable under 83.51(2)(a)(1) and (5) respectively.  Similarly, although 83.51(1)(b) lists maintaining the “plumbing in reasonable working condition” as a non-transferable responsibility of the landlord, the specific mention of “running water” as a transferable responsibility in 83.51(2)(a)(5) implies that the non-transferable responsibility to keep the plumbing in reasonable working condition does not include providing running water.  These clauses may seem contradictory, but they make sense because some dwellings may not have access to running water, but they still need plumbing to send water provided by the tenant away from the dwelling.  In sum, the plumbing problems and roach problem was Ferdie’s responsibility, Miranda was under no obligation to fix them.  Further, nothing in the Landlord & Tenant Act requires Miranda to reply to Ferdie’s requests.  She is only obligated to disclose her contact information under 83.50, which she apparently did because Ferdie sent her a note.

Even if Miranda’s behavior was in violation of the Florida law or the lease provisions, Ferdie should have resorted to the constructive remedies available to him under 83.56(1) such as vacating the apartment or remaining in the apartment and having his rent reduced.  Self-help remedies like Ferdie’s sign in the window only inflame the situation and should be discouraged by allowing immediate termination of the lease.  

In addition, if Ferdie wanted to terminate the lease because of the plumbing and the roach problems, he needed to send Miranda a written notice specifying her noncompliance and indicating his intention to terminate because of the noncompliance. 83.56(1)  Ferdie complained to Miranda in person and sent her a note saying “Please exterminate!” but these hardly come close to satisfying the written notice requirement under 83.56(1).  In conclusion, Ferdie’s window sign is grounds for immediate termination of the lease under 83.56(2)(a) and Miranda, having properly terminated the lease, deserves possession of the apartment.

The fourth and final issue supporting Miranda’s right of possession is Ferdie’s failure to pay rent.  83.56(3) allows a landlord to terminate the lease of a tenant who continues to default on rent payments for 3 days after proper notice is served.  Ferdie did not pay his January rent by the due date specified in provision (2)(b) of the lease, January 5.  Miranda served him with a notice closely matching the model notice in 83.56(3) on January 8, but he continued to withhold rent and retrain possession through January 14.  Although Miranda has not sent a follow-up notice telling Ferdie his lease was terminated, such a notice should not be necessary because Miranda sent a termination-of-lease notice less than 2 weeks earlier on January 2.  Thus, Ferdie surely knew termination would be a likely result of his failure to pay rent.  To require Miranda to send another termination-of-lease notice in regard to Ferdie’s not paying rent would unnecessarily delay the eviction proceedings.  Such delays undermine the nature of summary proceedings, which are landlords are entitled to for the actions for possession under 83.59(2).  Also, Ferdie is able to pay rent if he chooses, but he is intentionally withholding rent to unjustifiably “get back” at Miranda and therefore deserves little sympathy for not receiving a second notice of termination.  In sum, if Ferdie’s lease was not properly terminated by the January 2 notice, it was effectively terminated when he continued to default on his lease.  

Ferdie may argue that he is allowed to withhold rent because Miranda failed to perform her duty under 83.51(1) to keep the plumbing in reasonable working condition, but this argument is unpersuasive for two reasons.  First, the only problem with the plumbing was the periodic absence of running water.  As explained above, this obligation was transferred to Ferdie under the terms of the lease and such a transfer is valid under 83.51(2)(a).  Second, 83.60 prohibits Ferdie from raising such a defense to an action for possession based on failure to pay rent unless Ferdie has given Miranda a written notice that is withholding rent for that reason.  Ferdie has given Miranda no such notice, so he may not raise such a defense.  Thus, Miranda’s termination of the lease based on Ferdie’s failure to pay rent is valid and should result in her being awarded possession of the apartment.

Ferdie may argue the termination is retaliatory and action for possession are retaliatory and thus prohibited by 83.64, but this argument is without merit.  83.64(1) explains that an element of retaliation is discrimination, defined in 83.64 as meaning “a tenant is being treated differently…”  There is nothing to indicate that Miranda has treated Ferdie differently than she would other tenants in the same situation.  Her first notice to Ferdie was not discriminatory, Mrs. Gonzalo said she gives those to all new tenants.  Although Miranda is treating Ferdie differently in that she’s not trying to evict other tenants, this does not discrimination.  If any other tenant had violated the lease or the Landlord & Tenant Act as Ferdie did, Miranda would terminate their lease and seek their eviction too.  It is true the termination notice was served soon after Miranda and Ferdie got into an argument, but this makes sense because the argument caused Caliban to start barking, leading Miranda to discover Ferdie had a dog.  It is natural for Miranda to take action to correct a lease violation soon after discovering it.  Even if Miranda decided to terminate the lease because she was upset, her actions are still not retaliatory under 83.64(3) because the termination and subsequent eviction are for good cause.  As explained above, there are four separate good cause reasons why Ferdie’s lease should be terminated and possession should be given to Miranda.


In conclusion, Ferdie’s four violations – the pit bull, the antenna, the window sign, and defaulting on rent payments – are each grounds for termination of his lease under the Florida Residential Landlord & Tenant Act.  Thus, Miranda terminated his lease with just cause and in good faith and, since Ferdie has not vacated in seven days, she should be awarded possession of the apartment.

(B) Chapter 6 Review Problems: Comments & Best Answers
(1) Review Problem 6A: Tim’s Big Party Under Fl. Stat. 83.56(2) 

(Short Problem/Multi-Question Written Assignment)
I have two sets of best student answers to this problem.  The first set responds to the seven individual questions I laid out for you and was done as a group project that was turned in during a past semester.  The second set responded just to the fact pattern and was done on an actual exam.  
(a) Mid-Semester Group Projects:  All Seven Questions

Q1:  Student Answer #1: Tim's actions are more like those in 83.56(2)(a) that do not require the landlord to give an opportunity to cure because such actions constitute immediate damage.  For example, the Florida Landlord-Tenant Act states that destruction, damage, or misuse of the landlord's or other tenants' property by a tenant's intentional act does not require the landlord to give the tenant an opportunity to cure.  This may be because such acts cause an immediate damage.  It may be argued that Tim's party constituted an intentional misuse of the landlord's property and the tenants' property by allowing the noise to get loud enough to reach the other tenants' property and disturb them.  The landlord could further argue that Tim's actions could not be cured because the damage of disturbing the other tenants had already been done.  Conversely, actions that require the landlord to give an opportunity to cure, such as having an unauthorized pet, parking in an unauthorized manner, or failing to keep the premises clean, are such that if violated one time, no damage to the property or to the tenant's property has been done.  These actions are curable.  They can be fixed without causing damage to the property.  However, a loud party, even if it happens only once, causes irreversible damage that cannot be fixed merely by preventing it from happening again.

Q1:  Student Answer #2: The examples given in 83.56(2)(a) are one-time acts that cause disruption and/or damage to other tenants' property regardless if they are corrected.  Tim's party caused several tenants to call the police because of the noise level.  The party's noise level caused a one-time disruption to other tenants.  Violations described under 83.56(2)(b) are acts that at their first occurrence may not immediately cause a disruption and/or damage to another's property.  These violations, if corrected may not even cause a disturbance to other tenants.  Tim's party, even if it went on the rest of the evening without disturbing the neighbors was at first disruptive and falls under the parameters set by 83.56(2)(a).

Q2:  Student Answer #1: There are quite apparent differences between the examples of noncompliance in 83.56(a) and 83.56(b). The examples in (a) are of a more grievous nature than those listed in (b).  Tim held a party that disturbed his neighbors but was brought under control by the police.  In the fact pattern, Tim did not cause any intentional damage to the property, it did not continue to disturb the neighbors, and it was the first time Tim violated the lease, so there seems to be no continuous unreasonable disturbance.  Further, Tim's party can be paralleled with the violations listed in (b) in that they are not violations that are committed recklessly or with intent to cause harm to the property, therefore he should not be subjected to immediate eviction as per 83.56(a).

Q2:  Student Answer #2: If an act, not in compliance with the statute, is of the nature that it can easily or inexpensively be remedied by the tenant, and is only slightly annoying to other tenants then the tenant should be given the opportunity to cure the noncompliance prior to having their rental agreement terminated.  Tim's noncompliance was that he permitted unauthorized guests on the property in the sense that drunk and disorderly guests are considered "unauthorized".  Although the party may have been a disturbance to the neighbors, there were no additional complaints made after the police had been there, therefore his conduct cannot be regarded as subsequent or continuous.  Tim's noncompliance can easily be cured he will refrain from having parties.  On these grounds, and in light of the fact that this is Tim's very first violation, Linda should not be able to terminate his rental agreement immediately, but instead should give him the opportunity to cure the noncompliance.

Q3:  Student Answer #1: Linda can argue that as a matter of policy she should be able to evict Tim without an opportunity to cure because the nature of Tim's party and the actions of his guests placed her in a vulnerable position.  According to Trentacost, Linda has an implied duty to provide a reasonable measure of security for her tenants.  This implied duty to provide security exists independently of her knowledge of any risks.  Therefore, Linda could have been held liable for any security violations against the other tenants by Tim's drunk and disorderly guests.  Additionally, the drunk and disorderly behavior of Tim's guests could have led them to injure themselves possibly leaving Linda open to tort liabilities.  Finally, some tenants may have rented in this particular building because it was quite and safe; therefore, Tim's party created a nuisance that violated the purpose of the space for which Linda could have been held liable.

Q3:  Student Answer #2: In this situation, the landlord should be able to evict immediately because if she were to allow a second chance as a matter of policy, that would convey a message to all other tenants that they were permitted to throw one large, wild party.  They would know that they could have one party without suffering the consequences of eviction.  The landlord does not want to have to deal with a lot of big, out of hand parties on her complex, especially when some of those parties might inevitably result in police intervention, as was the case with the party Tim threw.  In addition, parties such as these always carry the risk of people getting hurt or property getting damaged, neither of which the landlord wants to be required to deal with due to a "one-party" policy rule.  Therefore, in order to let tenants know that this type of behavior will not be tolerated, the landlord should not, as a matter of policy, allow Tim an opportunity to cure the noncompliance.

Q4:  Student Answer #1: As a matter of policy, Tim's conduct is not sufficient to allow the landlord to evict him immediately because the violation was Tim's first offense and it was not of a destructive or permanent nature.  If a tenant is permitted to be thrown out because of two people who become out of control at a party, then it seems there would be no limit to the reasons a landlord may have to throw a tenant out.  A line must be drawn somewhere.  If Tim is thrown out, then what will happen next?  An angry X comes over and creates a scene, which is out of the control of the tenant, but since a neighbor complains there is justification for eviction?  Or how about the tenant is baby-sitting two rowdy brothers who start wrestling and bump against an adjoining wall of a neighbor who complains.  Should this also be ground for an eviction?  Perhaps if these disturbances were continual they would justify eviction.  However, as a first offense, if is clear that such offenses are curable because there are times when a situation becomes out of control before a person has time to make appropriate adjustments.  Therefore, a line must be drawn in order to prohibit landlords from being able to evict for any reason at all.

Q4:  Student Answer #2:  As a matter of policy, the landlord should not be permitted to evict a tenant the first time something like this happens because that would result in too much power in the hands of the landlord.  For example, without knowing exactly what would offend a new landlord, a tenant might without knowledge do something that could cause him to be evicted.  This would not be a good policy because the tenant would be at the mercy of the landlord's discretion at any time.  The tenant needs an opportunity to know what the landlord considers acceptable and unacceptable conduct in order for the tenant to understand his limits and/or boundaries as far as guests and parties are concerned.  In addition, a policy such as this could also result in a significant number of tenants being evicted due to an accident or mistake that might occur at no fault to the tenant even though it occurred at his or her apartment.  Therefore, because there exists too much opportunity for innocent misunderstanding, the tenant should not, as a matter of policy, be evicted the first time this type of conduct occurs.

Q5:  Student Answer #1: In question two, we argue that Tim's party does not fall under the violations listed in 83.56(2)(a) because the disturbance was not continuously unreasonable, reckless, or with an intent to harm the property.  From a policy standpoint, it seems unreasonable to allow the landlord to evict for a violation that was so easily curable and not recurrent.  Because the disturbance was easily curable, did not harm the property, and was not recurrent, the party is not like the violations in 83.56(2)(as). Arguing for Linda is more difficult.  In question three, we pointed out that the party was at once disruptful, coupled with a strict interpretation of the statute may lead to Tim's eviction.  Practically, eviction seems like quite a jump as Tim never violated the lease before and the party's disturbance was immediately stopped.  The policy argument for Linda is partially dependent on what type of apartment complex she is running.  It is unlikely in a college town with usually a tight housing market that student residents or any other resident would more out on the basis of a single disturbance.  Overall, Linda's push for eviction is extreme because the disturbance created no damage, was not repetitive, and was easily curable.

Q5:  Student Answer #2:  Linda seems to have a stronger argument in this case because of all the responsibilities and obligations that flow from the landlord-tenant relationship.  Linda carries a duty to insure the safety of all tenants, as well as guarantee them peaceful enjoyment of their leased premises under the implied warranty of habitability.  A party is an example of noncompliance that could potentially pose major damages to the property, to the tenants, and to guests, all of which the landlord could be held responsible for.  One consequence of holding a landlord liable for so many things is that landlord must take extra precautionary measures to protect themselves.  Linda is simply doing what she must to ensure to the best of her ability that she will not be sued.

Q6:  Student Answer #1: If Linda found that there was damage to some of the common areas of the apartment complex or damage in Tim's apartment that occurred as a result of the party this would strengthen her current arguments for immediate eviction.  According to section 83.56(2)(a), if there was some damage or destruction to the landlord's property, caused by a tenant's actions, this would fall under the reasons listed by this section of the statute as grounds for immediate eviction.  If there was damage to the landlord's property this fact would not only lend strong support to the argument that the disturbance was unreasonable, but damage alone would be grounds for immediate eviction.

Q6:  Student Answer #2: A fact that would help Linda's legal position would be if Tim had furnished alcohol to minors.  Considering that the party was attended by college age students it could be easily assumed that there was underage drinking that took place on the premises.  Linda could show that Tim not only acted in an unreasonable manner but also broke the law by allowing underage persons to consume alcoholic beverages upon his premises.

Q7:  Student Answer #1:  If it could be shown that Tim's party was not disturbing the neighbors until two of his friends showed up drunk, that he asked them to leave, that the friends started creating a disturbance to which the neighbors called the police and the disturbance was abated after the arrest of the two drunk friends, then his legal position would be strengthened.  In this scenario Tim is attempting to control the situation and is being sensitive to the rights of the neighbors, but causes beyond his control are responsible for the disturbance.  If this fact could be established then it would seem completely unreasonable for the Linda to punish Tim.

Q7:  Student Answer #2: An additional fact that would be helpful to Tim would be that the apartment building was located between two fraternity houses near the UM campus.  It can be assumed that an apartment building adjacent to fraternity houses would have to tolerate a higher noise level as opposed to one located in a strictly residential neighborhood.  Tim's use of his property during the night of his party would not be inconsistent with the use of the surrounding property (the frat houses).  Tim's legal position would be facilitated because his actions were clearly within the acceptable norm of that particular neighborhood.

(b) Answers to Fact Pattern as Short Final Exam Question 
Student Answer #1:  The landlord will argue that the noncompliance was of a nature that he should not be given an opportunity to cure it under 83.56(2)(a).  He would argue that this party was a destruction of the property or a misuse by an intentional act

(1)  destruction:  The landlord could say any loud party does damage to the property and should not be given an opportunity to cure. Tenant's response:  There is no evidence of destruction.  The states use of this word is meant to cover defacement or actual physical damage.

(2) misuse by intentional act:  The landlord will argue that this is a misuse of the property.  People are supposed to live there, not have loud parties and it was clearly intentional--who could have such a loud party unless it were on purpose.  Tenant's response:  It's my property.  Having parties there is a normal use of property.  Or, I didn't do it on purpose.  They just showed up--it got out of hand, it wasn't intentional.

The tenant would argue that this was a one-time event that he should be given a chance to cure.  He would equate it more with permitting unauthorized guests or failing to keep the premises clean and sanitary-events, like this, that can be easily fixed and if behavior changes, will never happen again.

Given property law's general respect for the rights of people in possession of property--the tenant has psychic ties to property, he probably put some effort into fixing up the apartment suit his needs--I expect they would favor the tent in this matter.  The landlord may not terminate the lease under 83.56(2).
Student Answer #2:  The landlord would have to argue that the party was similar to the listed items of noncompliance in (a), which do not require him to give warning.  First, she could argue that a loud, all-hours party in a residential neighborhood is misuse of the property.  Certainly, it is an intentional act of T, or at least a continued unreasonable disturbance ("unreasonable" evidenced by arrests and complaints; "continued" because lasted long enough for cops to come.)

Second, the party is not like the list in (b), which requires giving an opportunity to cure.  The party is unlike parking on a lawn, or keeping the place dirty, in that others are not harmed (as was the case with the party).  Also, since it would be difficult to "correct" the damage, there is no reason to give T the opportunity.  Therefore, all she has to do is give T 7 days notice to vacate.

T probably has a better argument.  He would counter the landlord's first argument by examining the statutory language "misuse" is in context of permanent physical damage, as shown by misuse following "destruction" and "damage."  A party, as not physically damaging anything, does not fit into this category.  Further, although the statute does not limit the list to those three possibilities, it is reasonable to assume that a similar limit on only physical harms applies, based on the examples given.

Next, since the harm from the party wasn't (2) intentional (he wasn't arrested for the problem--it was his friends) or (2) continued condition (only happened once), there doesn't seem to be a good reason for the party to be classified under sec. (a).

On the other hand, there is good evidence that T's party falls under (b), as a temporary condition like a messy house.  It can be fixed (by not doing it again).  So he would have the chance to "cure" the problem.  So the landlord shouldn't be able to evict immediately.
 (2) Review Problem 6B: Bengal Co & Retaliation (Short Problem) 

(a) Professor’s Comments:  To show that the rent increase violated the statute, K would have to show three things:  that it was discriminatory; that it was “because” B was retaliating; and that the settlement of the dispute about the other property is the kind of conduct “for which the landlord may not retaliate.”  I will discuss each in turn:


(i) Discrimination: The statute defines this as treating the tenant in question differently from other tenants.  You have no specific evidence about this.  Some of the better answers noted that S would have to show that B did not increase the rent for all tenants and that this kind of increase was not standard practice at renewal.  


(ii) Causation:  S would have to show that the rent increase was “because” of the settlement.   The timing here is suggestive of retaliation, but it also can be explained by the proximity of the end of the lease term.  Many students sensibly suggested that the increase did not seem out of line for the renewal of a two-year lease and that you could look at the landlord’s normal practices and the market prices in the area to determine whether the increase seemed to be driven by normal market forces.  B could also argue that the increase was the result of increases in its costs.  A few students raised the interesting question of whether B can legitimately try to pass part of the cost of the settlement back to K. 


(iii) Type of Conduct:  I intended the heart of this question to be the discussion of whether the situation here should be treated as one that could give rise to a retaliation claim.  As we discussed with regard to the portion of the statute describing the kinds of tenant conduct that allow the landlord to evict immediately, when you are dealing with a list that is not exclusive, it is helpful to compare the item in question with the items on the list and try to characterize the list in a way that helps determine whether the item belongs.  Both of the models did this well, but many students made no attempt to discuss this part of the question at all.   



Some students argued that K fell within the literal language of the statute because she had complained to the government by filing a lawsuit, but the facts did not indicate a lawsuit was filed.  People often “settle” business disputes before anyone files suit. 


(iv) Other Issues Raised by the Text of the Statute:  A few students argued that, because the parties were entering a new lease, this was not a “rent increase” and so the statute didn’t apply.  This is a clever argument, although I don’t think a court would accept it.   First, there seems to be no good policy reason to treat this situation differently from any other rent increase.  Second, because many tenants operate on month-to-month tenancies, at some level, each additional month is arguably a new agreement.  Courts probably will not want to give landlords this avenue to avoid the statute.  


Exam technique note:  If you see a cute way out of the problem like this, note the argument, then analyze the problem as though the statute does apply.  I am not going to give you a 20-minute question that I think can be resolved conclusively in two or three sentences 


Several students discussed the requirement that the tenant act in good faith.  I gave credit for this, although literally the requirement seems only to exist if the tenant is raising retaliation as a defense, which is not the case here.  Some students also discussed the “good cause” exception from subsection (3).  However, that subsection  refers only to  evictions and not to rent increases.  In any event, if the rent increase was for good cause, K should lose on the element of causation.


(v) Common Errors:  A number of students made arguments based on the California and Washington cases we read. You need to be clear that these cases do not apply in Florida when there is a statute that directly addresses the same topic.  If you did so carefully, you could argue that a Florida court interpreting 83.64 might be swayed by the same kinds of considerations as the judges in other states.  However, you cannot simply discuss the cases from other states as though they were binding authority.
(b) Student Answer #1: [This is a very nice answer, noting the statutory requirements, discussing whether the conduct here is like the conduct listed, and raising a sensible policy concern, while showing a strong sense of seeing arguments for each party.]
Is raising K’s rent 15% a discriminatory act? 
There seem to be two parts of the analysis both of which require more research.

1. Is K the only one in FA facing a rent hike?

2. Is B acting with “good cause” 

3. Perhaps the local market value has increased greatly since last year or due to some new sight, the view from K’s apartment is suddenly worth much more or something of the like.

Did K act in good faith as required by 83.64?
For K to raise a defense of retaliation, she must have acted in good faith. Answering this requires more knowledge of her dispute 
with W, the owner of B. If K used unsavory means to force W to settle, it is unlikely a court will have much sympathy for her retaliation claim. 

Finally assuming K acted in good faith, was her dispute with W the type of conduct the courts should protect against retaliation? The statute gives 3 sets of examples of such conduct. K will need to show sufficient similarity to a, b, or c to have a persuasive defense. B and C do not appear similar to K’s situation.

A addresses complaints to gov. agencies about living conditions.  If K’s dispute with W began over concern about the condition of HB and K sought legal action to rectify the problems, K may be protected. The fact pattern tells us part of the dispute included utility bills. If W let some important utility perhaps trash collection, lapse, K’s complaint would be in an effort to enforce building, housing, or health codes.

Still, the court may not be persuaded by this apparent similarity to 583.64 (1)(a). Presumably this statute was designed to protect relatively unempowered tenants from the more legally/financially sophisticated landlords. K is not at such a disadvantage here. Especially since she won a settlement from W, K may not need protecting.

There is also a policy argument about forcing landlords to tolerate tenants with whom they have a personal dispute. Considering K’s assets and recent settlement award, she most likely can afford to move or pay the increased rent. W (through B) may not be asking too much of K considering their history. After all, W is a private individual, not a government agency like in Port of Longview. Individuals need not take as much abuse/free speech from tenants as government agencies. Again, this is a matter of bargaining power and W and K appear to be pretty equal players. 
(c) Student Answer #2: This answer is not quite as thorough, but does do a solid job working through the requirements and characterizing the listed conduct to compare it to this case.

83.64 says the landlord may not discriminatorily raise rent and lists some specifics which it would constitute retaliation while noting that is not limited to those examples.  The landlord's conduct does not literally come under any of those examples. Moreover, most of the examples require a complaint or the notification of a 3rd party. The present example shows neither. The statute may not have included squabbles in business relations for a specific purpose or it may not have thought this strange situation would arise often enough to put it in the statute.


Next- Discrimination is described in the statue as being treated differently. There is no evidence that other rents did or did not go up. So Kristen may not have been discriminated against.  


Further, there are good faith reasons to think Warren would need more $. First, he had to pay thousands to Kristen and second to the event that settlement w/ Kristen might have come after a legal battle. He might have had to pay legal fees.


Finally, the rent increase seems fair.   15% is a pretty standard increase for a renewal. She has given ample time to find a new place if she did not like the increase and because the unit is a residence and not commercial. It might be easier for her any ways.  Although he did send the letter soon after the fight with Kristen, it seems as though he would send it at that time regardless, B/C the lease was up.


In conclusion, Warren's rent hike was marginal and appears to have been in good faith but if Kristen can show discrimination, he may be in violation of the statute.  
(3) Review Problem 6C: Tony’s Tasteless Transfer (Short Problem) 

I was looking for both the argument that Tony could sublease and some fact-based application of the Kendall [2010 = Funk] commercial reasonableness test.

(a) Student Answer #1:  Lease says no "assign[ing]".  This is usually very strictly construed so the option would be for Tony to sublet to Pizzi.  The two are differentiated as a sublet takes over a portion of the lease and assignment goes to the end of the lease.  So Tony would keep a month or two at the end.  How​ever, if he really doesn't want him there he could refuse to renew and then what?  What type of lease is this anyway?  Term of years, how many, etc. are all considerations.


Tony could attempt to force Les to allow the assign​ment.  Traditional rule is that the lessor may arbitrarily refuse an assignee.  Yet this is changing which gives hope to Pizzi's Pizzas.  In Kendall, the lessee attempted a transfer under a no transfer w/o consent clause.  The court held that the lessor could not unreasonably withhold consent to the transfer.  So, the question becomes, is it commer​cially reasonable to refuse to let Pizzi in?


Les says the pizza is bad.  If this is just the denial of consent based on "personal taste" it is not commercially reasonable and not allowed per Kendall.  Further, if Les is refusing because he wants to be able to scoop the rent in​crease he can't do that either.  The policy is geared toward increased alienability, yet at the same time protecting the lessor's interest.


So is Les's interest being threatened?  It would per​haps be commercially reasonable for him to deny Pizzi if the situation of Pizzi's Pizza in the mall could harm the repu​tation of the mall, b/c it's sooo bad or somehow hurt busi​ness by causing people to go to other malls or causing the mall's rents to decrease.  Does Les own the mall?  Is there another pizza place?


Tony needs to show Pizzi's Pizza would not be harmful to the mall, that he's a proper, solvent, etc., lessor and that Les' objections are strictly personal (He hates all pizza) or based on some other commercially unreasonable grounds.

(b) Student Answer #2:  Tony's first argument, in some jurisdictions, is that the landlord cannot unreasonably withhold consent without a valid commercial reason.  Kendall. Tony argues that P is a very profitable business and that L doesn't have a valid reason to withhold consent b/c P can pay the rent and L might even make more $ from P if the lease includes a % to L.

L can probably object b/c it's a fancy mall, pizza joint may destroy image, etc. & if the food sucks it can also harm the image.  But P is profitable, L's knowledge of food is 2nd hand and if it sucked that bad P would be broke.  L's argument is Pizza doesn't equal Bal Harbour.

T's other alternative is to sublease to P.  T's lease says assign and ct's interpret literally.  Doesn't say no sublease, so sublease is usually O.K.  T. wants to sublease his remaining term (-1 month) & T would want to give P all the details of his original lease and structure his sublease agreement to make L 3rd party beneficiary so T gets out of the middle & L can go directly after P (overcoming the lack of privity of estate.)  However T should get plenty of $ from P b/c P can't sue L directly, P must go after T first, then T-L.  L will be pissed and try to make it tough on P.
(4) Review Problem 6D: Rules re Right to Transfer (Opinion/Dissent) 

(a) Professor’s Comments:  This was the opinion/dissent question on the Spring 2010 exam. 
(i) General Concerns: As always on the opinion/dissent question, I rewarded students who thoroughly defended the positions they adopted, especially by responding directly to the best arguments they made for the other side.  Students lost points when they did not make clear which of the two issues particular arguments addressed and when they greatly overstated their arguments.  E.g., as the materials indicated, different states have adopted different positions on the waiver issue.  That strongly suggests that neither position is unconstitutional, neither position is a gross misuse of judicial power and that neither position will result in the downfall of Western civilization or the death of contract law.


Other common problems included:   

· Treating cases from other jurisdictions as binding in Ainsworth.  E.g., Funk limits reasonableness inquiries to economic concerns, but Ainsworth does not have to do the same.

· Arguing that L would be better off if she had allowed the transfer and that therefore she shouldn’t object to the result.  Obviously, she must have thought she was better off on the whole without PP.  A better, more subtle version of this argument was that, since she appeared to be economically better off if she allowed the transfer, the court should treat the refusal as unreasonable.  

· Unless you argue that Bellin should be overturned, you can’t argue that the court should never imply a reasonableness term; it already has done so.

· I normally try not to worry about spelling errors, but quite a few students consistently typed ”tenet” when they meant “tenant,” which did not add to my sense that they knew what they were doing.

(ii) Waiver Issue:  


A.  Pro-Waiver Arguments: I primarily was looking for arguments based on freedom of contract and the landlord’s right to control her own land, particularly in a commercial context. Some specific points: 

· Arguably it is unfair for the tenant to obtain bargaining advantages for voluntarily agreeing to a waiver and then to argue that the waiver is invalid.

· Allowing more reasonableness challenges leads to more litigation, both because people will try to challenge other provisions of leases as unreasonable and because the parties have to litigate the meaning of “reasonable.”

· Because what is at issue is the landlord’s important right to exclude, she should be able to choose to limit the right to transfer in any way she chooses.


B.  Anti-Waiver Arguments:  I expected arguments about protecting less powerful tenants (particularly their right to alienate their interest), about ensuring that the rented units were not left vacant, and about the general need for fairness/reasonableness in contracts/leases.  Some specific points: 

· Even where a commercial tenant voluntarily agrees to a waiver, its managers probably don’t anticipate being held hostage to irrational beliefs of the landlord.

· Many students argued that allowing a waiver would be inconsistent with the landlord’s duty to mitigate.  However, landlords with a duty to mitigate might prefer to risk finding their own replacement rather than simply accepting a proposed transferee they don’t want to work with. 

· Allowing “unreasonable refusals” may allow the landlord to cover up a refusal that is based in unlawful discrimination. 
(iii) Reasonableness Issue:  I asked you to discuss whether two types of landlord concerns we had mentioned in class—political differences and prior rejections—should be considered reasonable in this context even if not tied to any economic interest of the landlord.  I wanted two-sided discussion of both types of concerns, ideally providing and defending rules for what should be considered “reasonable.”


The student responses on this issue were generally a lot weaker than on the waiver issue largely because many of you assumed that the economic definition of reasonableness from Funk should apply and then simply argued about whether L’s concerns were economic.  I gave some credit for this kind of analysis, which even the two models included.  However, a major national pizza chain probably wouldn’t cause L any serious economic problems and, if she thought that they would, she probably would have provided evidence to the court.  


(A) Prior Rejection:  Five years had gone by here, so PP and T almost certainly had not conspired to get around L’s original rejection.  You might have argued that the prior rejection ought to be irrelevant if there’s no evidence of conspiracy or that courts should treat turning down a prior reject as reasonable to discourage rejected tenants from trying to use another tenant to get around the landlord’s decision.   You also could discuss whether the interests of the actual tenant should be considered strong enough to outweigh the landlord’s prior decision to exclude.


(B) Politics:  Both parties have genuine political interests here.  MMM has an interest in not losing out on business opportunities because of her political positions.  L has an interest in not being forced to do business for ten years with someone whose political positions she abhors and perhaps in not being perceived as supporting MMM or providing MMM with profits to spend on political causes.  Ideally, I would have liked to see some discussion of which of these interests seems more important, particularly in the context of a commercial lease.
(b) Best Student Answers:  I had trouble assigning grades to these answers.  I was using an internal scoring system to roughly assess your answers in terms of both quality and quantity of relevant points made.  Under this system, the average score was about 18 and all but three answers received scores under 34.  The top three papers had scores of 40, 64, and 81.5.  I ended up giving the high score (the first model answer) as grade of 20 (a grade I use roughly every six or seven years), the next highest (the second model answer) a grade of 18, and the third highest (along with two other relatively strong papers with slightly lower scores under my internal system) a grade of 16.  This was probably a little bit unfair to the top two papers, whose work was considerably better than anyone else’s, but it was the best system I could think of without greatly penalizing a lot of students simply for doing Question III.  

(i) Student Answer #1: This is a terrific answer. The student defends his key positions and the two opinions respond to each others’ strongest points.  The only notable weakness is that the student only addresses the prior rejection of PP in the dissent and not in the majority. 
Majority:  
Waiver: The Court today considers the question whether the reasonableness requirement established, implied within contracts, by this Court can be expressly waived.  We hold that it cannot.  Understanding the gravitas behind this decision, we outline our rationale beginning first with the larger issue of waivability followed by discussion on whether, if the reasonableness requirement could in fact be waived, whether the Defendant's waiver would in fact meet any objective standard of reasonableness.  We consistently hold that she has not articulated any reasonable reason for denying transfer of the lease.  


Under normal circumstances we trust that businesses will act rationally in their decision-making.  In an ideal world, businesses focus on monetary gains and would not arbitrarily contest leasehold that would mutually benefit all parties economically.  Unfortunately, this is not the world we live in today, property owners, although concerned with money, also use their position to punish tenants, hold grudges, and even subtly discriminate against granting leaseholds.  Allowing a business to contract out of the reasonableness requirement, licenses them to act arbitrarily.  These arbitrary acts harm economic efficiency.  This court does not want to envision a world in which a property owner may punish his tenants for any personal distaste, arbitrarily, forcing payments to be made and properties to sit vacant.  We wish our lots to be used, our lands to be full, and our citizens to be productive.  Forcing a bankrupt tenant to pay while a lot sits unnecessarily useless rewards the landlord for providing no service and harms the other enterprises which that land may also aid (by bringing business to the area and aiding the natural flow of commerce).  


The dissent claims that we are ignoring the express grant of the contract, specifically noting that these are commercial industries we are imposing our will upon.  Although the fact that these are commercial businesses may often be a short-hand for sophisticated tenants, not always is this true.  The tenant in this case may have merely been a franchisee over his head, receiving poor advice, and in a poor bargaining position.  Who knows whether this provision allowing the landlord absolute transfer was actually bargained for?  From the facts, this is not clear.  We protect not only residential lessees today but also unsophisticated individuals not afforded proper protection in negotiation.  Under similar conditions, we have implied other terms into contracts when public policy warrants.  This is not judicial usurpation; we are merely affording protections consistent with dignity and autonomy of the individual.  We believe in individual liberty, but not economic coercion.  When there is unequal bargaining power and the contract does not accurately reflect intent, we will not honor this contract.  The parties may not have fully understood what they are waiving.  Moreover, no business owner expects to fail, and without proper guidance many may not even consider this possibility. Consistent with State v. Shack, which the Court finds persuasive, we believe some ideas and protections are too valuable to waive.  


Reasonableness:  We again uphold the decision of the court of appeals.  The defendant asserts absolutely no business related rationales for denying Patrick's Pizza.  The defendant solely points to the CEO of the company's politics as her sole rational for not allowing the lease transfer.  Again we point to the supposed rationality of commercial industries.  The defendant wishes to exclude a willing buyer in the name of political differences.  The defendant has not acted reasonable or prudent in any business sense.  We are evaluating her actions as a business person here, this is a business transaction.  The defendant has let her personal feelings destroy a potential fruitful business transaction, a perfect example of why we can't leave these types of warranties to the free market.  The defendant punishes her other tenants, as well as Tyler, based on a grudge.  Had the defendant simply articulated one plausible commercially-related rational to support her position she would have been reasonable.  This is not a difficult standard to meet. 



The dissent briefly cites to the idea that Mosley and Liz may work together, and their disagreements may hamper business.  We find this unpersuasive, Mosley is the CEO of the company it is unclear how much interaction will even be required between the two of them.  Many intermediaries will work between them and even if they do not, the commercial nature of the relationship means they will not be subject to the same close-knit relationship of residential landlords and tenants.  In the commercial context, it should not be problematic to get along with someone you do not personally agree with.  Co-workers of varying beliefs come together every day from 9 to 5; the relationship between the CEO of a company and a commercial landlord should be no different.  The dissent claims we have usurped individual liberties in both the areas of contract law and property rights today.  We have not placed a substantial burden on landlords, but we only require some reason rationally tied to business in the commercial setting.  The court today instead protects freedom of speech over property rights.  The court envisions a world (that the dissent would allow) where business owners could be disenfranchised based solely on their political affiliations, similar to the black-listing of communist entrepreneurs. Although you may disagree politically with a person, this is not a substantial foundation to deny an otherwise sound business transaction.  Property values serve human values; human values do not subject themselves to property law.  

Dissent: Waiver: The majority opinion today infringes on rights of our citizens that began as this country was born.  Two businessmen have come together and negotiated an equitable contract and the court today destroys their very words.  The majority destroys the predictability and comfort associated with the standard business contract.  We trust the parties' ability to negotiate and do not intend to implement top-down regulations.  If a party does not care about his ability to transfer, let him bargain it away.  Likely, that party will receive consideration and parlay this concession into a fruitful reward through another provision.  Here, we are bound to the terms of the contract, the contract states the landlord can withhold consent for any reason, so the landlord should be able to withhold that consent.  We were not there when the contract was drafted, perhaps Tyler received less rent for this concession, perhaps he was rewarded with a shorter lease.  The point is this court cannot know the exact terms of negotiation.  What is left here for us is the document itself.  We are to interpret the terms of the contract, not create a wholly new document.  Business people act rationally, and we trust their judgment when it comes to making decisions.  The market itself ensures favorable outcomes.  The Court should not impede this process.  If the parties contract, unless wholly egregious, we should not interfere.  


The majority opinion finds egregious conduct where there is none, unnecessarily usurping power from individuals and putting it into the hands of the court.  In one decision, the court invalidates contract rights and the rights of the landowner to use his property as he sees fit.  The right to exclude is fundamental to all of property laws, and if the Court does not protect it, it is useless.  Even in the commercial context, the defendant has a right to use her property as she sees fit.  The majority would see this right eroded down to nothing by imparting reasonableness onto her decision-making.  If the defendant wants to exclude a tenant for any reason at all or no reason at all, that should be her right as a property owner.  [MAF: As stated, this point s arguably inconsistent with Bellin.] She exercises dominion over the property, the Court does not.  The majority has not even allowed her to insert provisions to regain this right, when she leases her property.  Once she has signed away the property to one party, she has seemingly lost control forever (or at least for the terms of the lease), we think this unjust.  The landowner remains supreme over the lessee and the express terms of the contract should protect carefully-negotiated values manifsted in writing.  Predictability, security, freedom to contract, and property rights are all at stake and the majority opinion fails to instill confidence in the landowner's ability to protect or obtain any of these values.  


Reasonableness:  In the alternative, if the reasonableness requirement cannot be waived, the defendant has articulated a reasonable rationale for not turning over the lease.  Reasonable, taken by its common definition, means not “economically reasonable” but rather “articulable.”  There was a thought process and this thought process need not be tied to commercial interests.  Although the lease is a commercial lease, the defendant is a human, she functions as a person first and a business person second.  If she does not want to work with someone she disagrees with, that is her preference and the court should stay away.  Further, interpreting this reasonableness requirement to depend on the nature of the lease opens this court up to a flood of litigation based on 'reasonable' in any given context.  We should stick to a simpler, more commonly-used definition of reasonable: if articulable and not clearly discriminatory it should pass.


Even if the court were to hold that the landlord’s decision must be economically reasonable, we can derive economic rationales from the defendant's statements.  First she must work with Mosley, a person she disagrees with.  Disagreement can hamper a business relationship, making a good deal go sour very quickly.  If both parties are passionate about politics, this can lead to a dysfunctional or even hostile work environment.  Why should we force her to accept this arrangement when there could be many more suitable arrangements available? Second, the outspoken nature of Mosley's politics may hamper Liz's other clients.  We do not know if Patrick's Pizza would even be welcomed. Maybe the pizza chain would open up Liz to public protest on her property harming her other tenants.  Lastly, Liz has previously rejected the Partick's pizza location, simply because she has agreed to rent to another party, now she must rent to Mosley?  This seems an unjust result, leading down a slippery slope where a landlords ability to choose their own tenants is all but eliminated.  


Conclusion: The majority concerns itself with tyranny related to discriminatory business practices.  We concern ourselves with the much more likely tyranny of governmental intervention.  Businessmen and women will act rationally and not let politics get in their way on a large scale.  We see business partnerships across political beliefs in the name of profits constantly.  The free market, however, can not check unyielding government intervention on private lands.  The Court today stands from is non-democratically elected position and dictates terms of contract law, property law, and individual rights.  

(ii) Student Answer #2:  This answer may even be a little better than the first on the waiver issue, although it is quite a bit weaker (although still pretty solid) on reasonableness.  Like the first model, it only addresses the prior rejection in one of the two opinions.  This student chose to draft the majority and dissent for the waiver issue separately from the opinions on reasonableness, which I think is an acceptable choice under the instructions.  
Majority (Waiver):  Commercial parties to a K can waive reasonableness requirement of consent.   In America, the ability to contract freely is a fundamental right. Freedom of contract allows 2 parties to obtain what they feel is in their personal best interest, and, as long as nothing illegal or against public policy is involved, the right should be respected. Commercial entities are presumed to be sophisticated as to business matters, and therefore it is not the court's place to not allow them to contract as they please. If Tyler's hamburgers, a commercial entity felt it was in its best interest to expressly waive LL's duty to not unreasonably withhold consent, it was their right to do so. If they did not like the clause, T did not have to sign the K or perhaps could have offered more money to maintain the clause, to hold the waiver invalid would be unfair to LL because she would not be getting what she bargained for in the K.


Even fundamental constitutional rights like the right to silence can be waived. And that right is often waived by much less sophisticated parties than a commercial entity. If a sophisticated commercial entity chooses to waive its right to not have consent unreasonably withheld, it should be able to do so. [MAF: nice argument.]

While the dissent’s arguments about the public policy about the reasons for implying reasonableness are certainly valid, those reasons do not trump the right of 2 commercial entities to contract as they please. Even if alienability and free commerce are affected, the rights of commercial entities to act within their own best interests is more valuable, and if poor business decisions are made it is the job of the free market, not the court, to correct those decisions.


The dissent also argues that not allowing transfer goes against the public policy of making efficient use of land, because T is going into bankruptcy while PP is expanding. Although public policy certainly promotes efficient use of land, a businesswoman like LL is in a much better position to decide what is the most economically efficient use of her land. The court should not assume that a businesswoman would act in bad faith against her own economic best interest


However, residential leases are another story. Unequal bargaining power, differences in access to information, and potential for sophisticated sellers to take advantage of unsophisticated buyers makes waiving the right to not have unreasonable refusal in property transfers inappropriate in the residential context, similar how an implied warranty of habitability cannot be waived in a residential context Javins.

Dissent (Waiver):  Social policy demands that even a commercial T cannot waive the LL's duty to not unreasonably withhold consent. 
Even commercial entities should not be able to waive the LL's duty to not unreasonably withhold consent because such a waiver is against public policy. First of all, the majority implies that the disparities in bargaining power and access to knowledge are not present in the commercial context. However, this is patently false as evinced by the case before us today. T is might be a hamburger chain, but they are clearly in a much more financially precarious position than LL. This might explain why T decided to waive its right here.  Furthermore, T is a chain, but if it is allowed to waive such a right, then smaller mom and pop stores could be coerced into making waivers as well in Ks with large developers. Preventing large landlords from unreasonably refusing transfer is vital to prevent larger entities from leveraging smaller tenants into accepting unreasonable conditions Funk.


Furthermore, public policy supports alienability of property. If T is not allowed to assign or sublet its interest, it will potentially go into bankruptcy, leaving the building, at least temporarily, bankrupt. T has found a financially sound tenant in PP which will take over immediately and promote the public policy. T should not be allowed to K away a right that not only protects T, but is also desirable to society as a whole. 


LL seems to be fine with making what would seem to be an economically unsound decision to suit her personal whims. After all, LL owns several malls and is likely doing fine financially. However, public policy is against economically unsound choices being made at the whim of individuals. Landlord's unreasonable denial of consent harms not just them, it harms the current tenant, the potential new tenant, and society as a whole. Vacancies can cause property values of a whole area to decline.


Public policy also supports making efficient use of property. Since T is going bankrupt, it’s reasonable to assume that it is not making efficient use of the property.  PP is a national chain that is expanding and therefore allowing transfer to the more economically efficient company is in society's best interest.  The appellate court should be affirmed and reasonableness implied.

Majority (Reasonableness): Reasonableness does not need to be for directly economic as long as the landlord could have rationally concluded the refusal was in her economic best interest: The court should not be able to decide what is in the economic best interest of a landlord.  LL did not want PP as a tenant because she disagreed with the CEO's political views. If she is willing to forego having a financially sound tenant based on her political views, it is rational to believe that potential customers might stay away from the restaurant as well. If customers avoid the restaurant, they might avoid the area as a whole which therefore could affect business at the mall.

Furthermore, the prior refusal before leasing the premises to T demonstrates that the refusal here was not to leverage T in any way. It was totally within LL's rights to refuse PP as a tenant before, and she should have the same right now. To find her refusal to transfer interest unreasonable and force her to accept PP as a client, would be to force a commercial entity into an undesirable business relationship and be an extreme interference with LL's freedom of K.  LL's refusal is reasonable because she had a rational basis for concluding having PP as a client could effect her economically.

Dissent (Reasonableness):  Refusal was not reasonable because in business transactions refusal is only reasonable if based on articulable, direct economic concerns regarding the potential tenant. The majority seems think that LL’s refusal of PP was economically based due to a tenuous connections with MM's politics effecting business. P is a national chain looking to expand. Clearly the politics of the CEO have not had a severe adverse effect on PP's business, so it is mere speculation to assert that the CEO's politics would have an adverse economic effect here. A landlord must offer specific, articulable, direct economic concerns. For example, if a potential tenant was financially unreliable or might damage the premises, withholding consent would be reasonable. Noting of that sort is suggested in this case. LL's refusal has no direct economic basis, and allowing the refusal would go against public policy of promoting alienability and efficient use of property.

(5) Review Problem 6E: Benjamin & Rebecca Anti-Discrimination 

(Issue-Spotter) 

(a) Professor’s Comments: This was part of an issue-spotter I gave in a Housing Discrimination class.  The question contains a variety of small issues outside the scope of the Property class.  You can assume that B violated the FHA if B rejected R because he thought she wasn’t Jewish enough, because she was Israeli, or because he thought she was in an inter-faith or inter-racial relationship.  You also could discuss whether requiring tenants to refrain from eating pork or shellfish constitutes discrimination on the basis of religion (cf. Review Problem 8H)


(b) STUDENT ANSWER #1:  Federal Claims?  FHA and 1982.  For FHA, she qualifies because of religion.  Although B will argue that he like she was Jewish so he can’t discrim.  But R will argue that’s why he discrim -- because she wasn’t as orthodox as he was.  Similar to Cardona case where just because P and D spoke Spanish, doesn’t preclude discrim. suit under 1981 because Columbians/Cubans same Latin race.  No.  Same here, R will argue because they are both Jewish and just because she is less faithful than him he is discrim. against her.  But he will argue race and religion not the same.  But there is still discrim. here and Sup. Ct. held Jews are to be protected. Shaare Tefila.  P will also be able to file suit under 1982 but will have to prove intent also.

Evidence against B as mgr. and as owner.  He became increasingly annoyed with her as soon as he found out she didn’t adhere to Sabbath -- his “smile froze” because he realized that she wasn’t Orthodox or as serious as she was -- he reasonably thought she was or. because of her Star of David charm.  He was so friendly to her that he offered his own place to her and then revoked both offers: his home &ST’s apartment

Also proof when she arrive w/ C he realized that she wasn’t as devout as he is -- Since Orthodox don’t marry from other faiths and she was there w/ an African-American w/ a cross in his ear -- different faith and he was obviously worried that she was involved w/ him because he said if you’re both going to live there, he needs to fill out application also and then was relieved when she said there were just friends.

B will argue that he has a right to have a policy that his renters eat no port or shellfish -- a seemingly innocent request to some.  R has a strong case here that this is only a pretext.  When he found out that she worked on Sat. -- or didn’t follow Sabbath because she wanted to look at the house on a Sat. and he froze and said he didn’t work Sats. then he tried to discourage her from seeing the place and said she didn’t really have time to see the place.  So he reluctantly agreed to show her the place and he stared at C while silently showing them the place -- after he had been friendly to her.  B will argue that he just didn’t like them.  He can refuse to rent because he doesn’t like them or because they are rude and have a temper like he said But R will further argue that he was discrim. against her because she was with an African American and he was discrim. on the basis of the race of her friends.  B will argue Sorenson that this is only proof of discrim. motive and not a violation.  But R will argue that it is discrim. because once she explained they were only friends he said -- no problem.  I thought you were really together -- a violation of his Orthodox religion that she can offer.  Overall, she--R-- is likely to prove that his reasons were a pretext -- he didn’t want here there because she wasn’t orthodox and ate pork/shellfish and the rude/temper defense was untrue.

(b) STUDENT ANSWER #2:  RACE:  Jewish is protected under race:  Assuming B does not fall within stat., we must decide if he discriminated based on race.  Jewish is considered a race (Shaare Tefila).  As such, if it is found by jury that B discrim. against R because not strict Orthodox Jew, then he is liable.B will try to defend on ground that he is Jewish, so how can he discriminate another Jew?

R will argue that in Cardona, Ct. held that just because Cubans & Colombians belong to a larger group of Spanish speaking peoples, does not mean that they are not separate ethnicities.  So one can discriminate against the other.  B will argue that that case stood for the proposition that language is NOT dispositive in defining ethnic groups.  It can be distinguished from case at hand because Jewish is a religion, not race.  They speak the same language and have similar beliefs so how can he discriminate?  R will still rely on Shaare and argue that he discriminated against her because she’s not Orthodox.

R’s evid. of discrim.:

· change of attitude after she mentioned getting together on Sat. (working on Sat.)

· B’s reaction when she said she will eat pork and shellfish.

· she fulfills the qualif.

· his excitement in beg. to “no way” at end.

· his staring at Christian who had cross in ear.

· his talking to her during first time showing yet, could be interpreting as getting info about protected class.

B’s evid. NOT discrim.
· statements:

– you can have any friend visit

-- “I’m sorry. rude person...  I don’t need rudeness.”  Shows he rejected her based on rudeness.

If he had rejected anyway whether rude or not, then he discrim.

R:  he rejected because not devout Jew because he told me to not eat pork or shellfish.  Those are parts of his religious beliefs that he tried to put on me, but when I disagreed, he got angry.

B: No she was rude.  If she answered politely, I would have allowed her to remain.  Also, pork and shellfish is personal preference, not Jew.  I don’t like them and I can discrim. against anyone who eats them in my place.  (Smell, dirty, etc.).

Policy - here R would win because clearly pork and fish played a role.  He is known to want tenants to follow this or they are not welcome.  She was rude but it appears he would have rejected her anyway.

(c) STUDENT ANSWER #3: [This answer is more one-sided than I usually like, but it raised a lot of very good arguments for Ben on a question where the majority of answers were too slanted toward Rebecca.]

3604 (a):  Benjamin did not deny Rebecca because of a protected class she belonged but because was rude and ate un-Kosher food.  Non-Kosher food eaters are not a protected class.  And predictably will come from every race, religion, national origin, etc.

When Ben suggested the house to Rebecca instead of the apt. this hardly constitutes steering under 3604(a).  It was based on more room and privacy and imminent availability and was for Rebecca’s benefit (and possibly more profit which is not illegal).

3604 (b):  The conditions with which Ben treated Rebecca appear consistent with his Orthodox religion.  He simply does not work Saturdays.  If he does not work for any customers, that hardly constitutes discrimination.

As for the claim that his attitude changed when asked to work on Saturday by a non-Orthodox, that does not appear to be evidence such as in Cato which indicates a change of attitude after conversation about race.  He may been legitimately offended as he would be when asked to work by a member of any protected class -- not just a non-religious Jew.  His reluctance to meet her may have been due to legitimate offense taken to the comment “I didn’t think anyone cared about the Sabbath.”  His silence and coldness when Chris was present did not necessarily have anything to do with his race or religion (We don’t know that he saw the cross in the ear!)  It may have been a remnant of her offensive comment.

Requiring Chris to separately apply is not a violation of 3604.  A landlord has a right to do credit checks, etc., as long as it is consistently does to all protected class.  Rebecca had to fill out the form too!  Benjamin’s understanding that Rebecca and Chris were going to share the dwelling is not surprising given this was a house, not an apt. and he was looking at the house too and seemed to like it a lot.  He did not express displeasure at seeing an interracial couple.  His rude treatment of Rebecca while she was with Chris is no different then how he treated her earlier (“since you don’t’ really have time to see house... “)

His mention of the pork and shellfish really after she was with Chris is not inconsistent with his prior policy (as evidenced by the ad.)  Therefore, it can hardly be said that the conditions and terms of the rental 3604 (b) were different due to Chris’ race.  Therefore, this is not like Sorenson where there was evidence of a change in attitude after discover an interracial association.

Ben’s personal convictions (i.e., frowning upon non-religious Jews, etc.) is not pertinent here because it does not appear these sentiments were part of his decision not to rent.  She was rude!!! and had a problem with his pork and shellfish policy!

Even if Rebecca says that the no pork policy is neutral, but has an immediate and substantial abuse effect on her (as a Jew who does not follow these rules) Ben may counter with his compelling business necessity.  His religion (which is protected by the sacred First Amdt.)  If, after Rebecca moves out, Ben may have to move into this unit.  If there are kitchen appliances, etc. they may be “contaminated” by the non-kosher food.  Jewish law also requires Jews not to use the same dishes, stove, oven, etc. for kosher for that is used for non-kosher.  Replacing these appliances would be a huge burden every time a tenant moves out.

While it is true that there are other alternatives to Ben’s policy (such as requiring additional deposits in case appliances get “tarnished” by pork, Rebecca did not suggest this.  Her rudeness interfered with any further negotiation between the parties.  
(6) Review Problem 6F: Twin Boys Anti-Discrimination (Issue-Spotter) 

(a) Professor’s Comments: This also was part of an issue-spotter I gave in a Housing Discrimination class.  The question contains a variety of small issues outside the scope of the Property class.  I have edited both comments and answers to focus on issues arguably relevant to the Property class:
(i) Issues Raised by the Question:

Denial of Housing:  There is a real question as to whether he was ever denied the one-bedroom apartment.  Some of you assumed he was; many of you assumed he wasn’t.  This is worth discussing.  She will argue that she only suggested that he take the two-bedroom and he then pulled out of the discussion.  He will say given that she already had suggested the two-bedroom and he had strongly implied he wasn’t interested, her phone call led him reasonably to think that she would not let him have the one-bedroom, and indeed, given his expressed concern about the higher rent of the two-bedroom, may have been to suggest she really didn’t want him at all.  Assuming she did deny him the apartment, you have to discuss her reasons.  See below.  

Steering:  Even if she didn’t deny him the one-bedroom, she appears to be pushing him to live with the other people with children on the third floor.  If she is doing this because of the children, it is illegal steering.  Whether her actions were illegal or not depends on purpose behind steering.  If she puts all people she thinks will be noisy on the 3d floor, probably OK. Again, go to her reasons.

Legitimate non-discriminatory reasons for denying or steering.  Lots of possibilities:  She has reason to believe he doesn’t control his kids well.  Worry about noisy people near library.  Worry about unsupervised children near library or pool.  Children are destructive (ripped book); maybe less likely to hurt library if upstairs and not next door.  Maybe legitimate concern re size of apartment either because of fear of harm to apartment or concern for children’s welfare.  Maybe she always pushes people to two-bedroom because she gets more $ and easier to rent one-bedrooms.

Evidence of Discriminatory Intent:  This is where I expected the bulk of your work to take place.  I gave you lots of facts that could help each party.  Some of you said there was no direct evidence of intent to discriminate.  I think her saying “yes” to Mrs. White probably is direct evidence.  Although she might be able to explain it way as a meaningless reply to placate the woman, the jury is entitled to believe she meant it, given that she followed it up immediately with the phone call.  In any event, our question is not whether the evidence is direct, but whether there is enough evidence, circumstantial or direct, to have a case without benefit of the McDonnell-Douglas presumptions.  Here there clearly is lots of circumstantial evidence.  The model answers do a nice job laying out the kind of arguments I was looking for.  

(b) Technique Notes:

Follow Directions/Read Carefully:  Problem said to discuss FHA violations, so references to §§1981 & 1982 outside scope (also they don’t protect against family status discrimination).  Problem said he filled out application; many of you missed this.  Problem says two-bedroom apartment was filled a few days after C said no and one-bedroom a month or more later; several of you mixed these up.
You Need To Use Both Law and Facts:  Do not put down a legal rule or a policy that you cannot use to discuss  the facts or proper outcome of the question.  For rules that do apply to the problem. simply listing legal tests and announcing conclusions is not very helpful; you might be guessing. Show which facts can be used to argue about whether the legal test is met.  On the other hand merely listing facts in bunches is not very helpful either.  Explain the legal significance of the facts with reference to rules, statutory language, and cases.  

Argue Both Sides/Focus on Most Contested Issues:  Assume there are some issues that will be contested.  I will not give you an exam where the answer is he clearly wins on every possible claim.  Seek out counter-arguments.  If you find yourself making arguments completely for one party, stop and look for the best points for the other side and deal with them.  A remarkable number of you treated almost all issues as being easy victories for one side or the other.
That said, be aware that not every issue will have strong arguments both ways.  Mostly what we look for on exams is your ability to identify which issues the lawyers will fight about the most and your ability to see what kinds of arguments good lawyers would make about those issues.  Thus, spending lots of time on relatively easy issues (here:  standing, is he in a protected class, did he apply, did the opportunity remain open) is not a good use of your time.  Do these issues quickly, if at all.  Take time at the beginning of the test to identify the issues that would be hardest for lawyers to resolve.   Then earn your points by thorough discussions of these hard questions that incorporate the law, facts and policy that would be used by both sets of lawyers. 
Time-Saving Ideas:  

(1) Abbreviate parties names and other common phrases.  Give a little explanation if not obvious (e.g., “DI=disparate impact”); no need to explain if common or obvious in context. (E.g., Clark = C, plaintiff = (, Fair Housing Act = FHA; McD-D= McDonnell-Douglas)

(2) When starting a new topic, use headings instead of long introductory sentences.  E.g., replace “The next issue we need to discuss is whether Lois met her burden” with “L’s Burden” 

(3) Use short cite forms:  Pinchbeck and §3601 not Pinchbeck v. Armistead or 42 USC section 3601. 

(4) No need to do long introduction & conclusion paragraphs at all on an issue-spotting question.  Probably not efficient use of time to do introduction paragraph identifying all major issues.  Instead, do one issue at a time, and use headings to introduce topics as they arise.  Only do a conclusion if you are adding new analysis (e.g., by suggesting how to arrive at a result if some factors favor one party and some the other).  Don’t simply repeat a list of points already made.

(5) Do one thing at a time.  When you start talking about one issue, try to finish it up before moving on to the next.  For example, rather than listing all of the McD-D factors, and then going back and applying them, discuss each one as soon as you mention it.  Otherwise, you end up writing each factor out twice (see, e.g., Model #2).  Also, if you see that there is a steering issue in the middle of writing about denial, wait until you finish denial before you move on to steering.

(6) Cross-Reference If a subsequent analysis can use a discussion you’ve already included, simply cross-reference “(see above)”, don’t do it all again.  For example, some of you did both the Cato and the Asbury versions of the McD-D test.  This is OK, but don’t repeat analysis.  Instead, say “Cato version of test same as above except no need to show left available and must show landlord aware of protected class” and then talk about whether this new factor is met.

(iii) Model Answers: Both model answers are good, but unspectacular.  Both made small errors.  Neither discusses steering.  The first made far more relevant points than anyone else.  The second is better is terms of technique:  nice thorough discussions of individual issues.
(b) STUDENT ANSWER #1:  First, intent to discriminate by LL.  (Rizzo, Frazier, Sorensen Marable).  Intent would be illegal under FHA.  To be able to attribute purpose to LL’s denial, a lawyer could show

1.  statements indicating concern.  Rizzo, Cato, Pinchback:  

“Get rid of kids” - Mrs. White

2.  Evidence of other/past behavior (Frazier, Pinchback):  

a.  “tense & uncomfortable” behavior of LL

b.  No other toddlers in complex

c.  .005% families

d.  “more comfortable” after fact-knowing $ mattered to CC

3.  Timing. Cato, Frazier:

a.  LL mood getting worse

b.  Not giving any real reason why she would want him in 2 bedroom & she was giving up a paying tenant if $ mattered)

4.  Application process & inconsistencies Marable:
Does she always call & try to “push” away prospective tenants.

Had she checked his credit she would have probably found out he had good credit and a prior good job.

A defending lawyer might bring up:

1.  Mrs. White complaints - it has never affected LL’s decision  (i.e. 2 sophomores) In Cato, the neighbor’s statements could not allow the landlord to discriminate

2.  LL lives w/ her own daughter, has a couple w/ a baby in the apartment (although couple just had baby.  We don’t know if lived there before it was due or she rented to couple while lady was preg. - etc.)  The town is generally made up of students (University town) & so community is less likely to be “filled” with children & LL’s concern was for the children’s space and not anything else.

3.  Moreover in Sorensen (5th), the landlords “uncomfortable” statement was not enough to prove intent.

4. In Asbury intent was shown by refusal to show apartments - LL gave CC the “grand tour”  and even watched one of his children for a short span

LL reasons for denial:  LL could say she did actually care that the kids should have play room & that these kids were destructive (running & tearing).

Then CC would have to show that LL’s reasons were pretextual and actually were b/c she didn’t want kids - her turning down his want for 1 bedroom undermines her want to rent apts & therefore makes no sense Asbury.  (pretext is up to jury) Frazier.  CC could get a summary judgment only if not “Mixed Motive” argument “But for” his kids - he would have been granted rent. Cato.  If he wants to say that he didn’t follow thru on application b/c he knew that they would be denied - he could apply the “futile gesture” in Pinchback.  In this case the facts of few families & Mrs. White statements would be evidence of intent to satisfy FHA.

Coerced?  [MF:  this is really more of a steering argument]:  Since LL “wanted” him to get 2bedroom - could he say he was coerced into not taking the apt.  LL would need to have a reason, since there seems to be no written policy of families must have 2 bedroom, even though all families in QC have 2 bedrooms.  CC wound up having to take a more expensive apartment.  CC might want to send testers to QC to find out if other applicants have been denied/treated the same way.

(c) STUDENT ANSWER #2:  
Was he denied an opportunity to rent?  Again we need to look at the facts.  Apparently, Lois never explicitly denied Clark the one-bedroom.  However, she pushed him to the two-bedroom which may have been viewed by him that she would not have rented the one bedroom to him.  This goes to his state of mind as to the statements.  Lois’s phone message to him is pretty clear that she did not want him in the one bedroom but again is not a clear denial.  However, the phone message in and of itself could be evidence to show that Lois felt that Clark had applied for the one bedroom “after thinking...two-bedroom apt.”  Clark can argue that this burden does not apply to him since he felt that even if he had applied, the signs were there that he would not be accepted.  Therefore he need not apply.

Evidence of discriminatory Intent:  This case looks a lot like Cato in that a present tenant threatens to vacate if things change around here.  However, unlike Cato the discrimination, if true, is not based on race which tends to diminish the chance of a favorable outcome for the (

There is also the problem that there are only three out of 47 rental units with kids.  This evidence tends to go with the (’s theory.  Unfortunately, the owner of the building is one of the ones with a child (“My wife is of Mixed Race”)  Lois’s change in demeanor could also be used as evidence against her after he showed interest in the one bedroom.  However, remember it could have been the kids actions that changed her demeanor and not the fact that he had kids.


In defense of Lois, there are several things to look at.  These kids were Dennis the Menace times two.  Lois has a responsibility as to quiet enjoyment for the tenants which is implied if not express in rental agreements (at least in Florida).  Clark apparently did not have control of his kids.  It is Clark’s responsibility to take care of his kids, not Lois’s.  (left Timmy with Lois).  What about the destruction of property?  The kid ripped a page out of the book.  What would happen if the kid were set free in the library?  Then when Clark went to pay for the book, why didn’t he offer to put a deposit on the apartment of his choosing.  (He had his checkbook)


The first floor is also a problem.  Could she absolutely deny first floor apartments by the pool to applicants with children due to a business necessity which could arise out of possible liability if one of these children should get hurt or drown in the pool?  [MF: possibly suggests business necessity is defense to intentional discrimination; it isn’t] Would the quietness of the library be gone if the Dennis twins moved in?  You could argue on her behalf that she will gladly rent to families as long as she feels comfortable that the children are being taken care of by their parent(s).  Which means that they also have control over their kids.  Again, in apparently less then an hour, he lost control of the kids 3 times and one of them caused personal property damage and they haven’t even moved in  yet.


A second defense?  A two bedroom is more expensive than a one-bedroom.  As a landlord, if you are going to have a vacancy you would prefer to have a cheaper unit vacant.  This is a neutral reason for her pushing him to a two bedroom.  Also, three people in a one bedroom would cause extreme unnecessary “normal wear & tear”. which would be far less in a two-bedroom.


Another defense: a few days later Lois rented a place to a family.  Even though it was the two bedroom, another family moved in.

(7) Review Problem 6G: Race, Relatives & Ramps: Anti-Discrimination 

(Issue-Spotter) 

Professor’s Comments:  This also was part of an issue-spotter I gave in a Housing Discrimination class.  Although you will not be tested on Reasonable Accommodations, I include that issue because the analysis is similar to Reasonable Modifications.  Similarly, although you would not be responsible for issues arising under California’s Unruh Act, I include those issues because they are similar to analysis you might do under Funk to determine whether a denial of a lease transfer was reasonable. 
(a) Reasonable Accommodations/Reasonable Modifications (RA/RM): There was a lot to talk about on these claims. In general, students did a pretty solid job of identifying relevant facts and using them to make sensible arguments.  However, your articulation  and use of the relevant legal doctrine tended to be pretty sloppy, suggesting not enough study time on this material.  Most importantly, only three of you clearly demonstrated that you understood that RA and RM are two different causes of action that needed to be addressed separately.  An overview of my suggested legal analysis follows:


1. Preliminary Issues:  These issues might arise before getting to the heart of the RA/RM claims.  None of them merited a lot of time.



a. Not a Current Tenant:  Several students incorrectly argued that the plaintiffs could not make these claims until they actually became tenants.  First, neither of the relevant statutes includes such a requirement and 3604(f)(3)(A) expressly refers to “reasonable modifications of existing premises occupied or to be occupied ….” Second, it would make no sense to require a disabled applicant to move into the building in order to make RA/RM claims.  Such a requirement would enable an uncooperative landlord or condo board to get away with refusing RA/RM in advance to deter the disabled applicant from taking the unit in the first place.



b. No Denial:  A number of students sensibly argued that it is not clear that the plaintiffs’ requests for RA/RM were actually denied before the defendants decided to reject them outright.  This is a fact question that depends on precisely what LL said to CC and when he said it.  You don’t have all the relevant details, so there isn’t all that much to discuss.  Given the uncertainty, good exam technique would suggest you note the issue, and then say something like, “If a court were to find there was no denial, plaintiffs would lose.  If not, the analysis would continue as follows ….”  What you should not do is use this as an excuse to end your discussion of RA/RM.


2. Necessary:  Both the RA and the RM causes of action require that the plaintiff show that the action requested is “necessary.” Here, I think the arguments that a front ramp is “necessary” would be pretty straightforward.  The alternative to having some sort of ramp is getting the staff to carry Trace in and out of the building, which would be difficult for all concerned.  Similarly, even with a ramp, there probably are too many disadvantages to the back door for it to be a workable option.


3. Reasonable Modifications: These involve changes made at the tenant’s expense.  



a. Application:  A couple of you argued that RM to the exterior of the premises are unavailable.  Neither the statute nor the regs address this question.  However, Freer, the only RM case we read, also involved an exterior ramp.  However, the regs explicitly say that RAs are available for “public and common use areas” and do not use that language for RMs. On the other hand, the RM statute talks about the landlord’s right to have the interior of the premises restored; the reference to “interior” would presumably be unnecessary unless exterior modifications were also permitted.



b. Reasonable? (Davis test: reasonable if no undue hardship, no substantial burden, no fundamental alteration of program)




(i) Building Appearance:  The Ds may claim that a ramp in front will harm the appearance of the building.  Although this claim is presumably stronger for a chic building on a fancy street, as several students noted, entrance ramps are so commonplace, that it is unlikely to bother the tenants too much. In addition, some tenants are likely to appreciate the ramp for themselves or their guests. The Ds probably would have to show evidence of significant effects on market value to be able to use this to defeat the claim.  




(ii) 
Zoning Issues:  The Ds might suffer some costs trying to get zoning approval from the city.  Assuming CC lives up to her promise to represent them for free, any other costs are unlikely to make the ramp unreasonable.  However, if it looks like extended litigation is necessary, that might be a “substantial burden.” It would greatly weaken the FHA if the need for zoning approval by itself made an RM  “unreasonable.”




(iii) Other Concerns

· Several of you argued that the landlords might incur tort liability from accidents on the ramp.  The real cost to them is the increase, if any, in the cost of their liability insurance, which I’d bet is not significant.  For one thing, the ramp has to be safer to use than six marble steps.  For another, although many of you seemed very concerned about slipping on snow and ice, it almost never snows in San Francisco (you’d have no particular reason to know this; I think the winter of 1977-78 was the last time).

· In Freer, the court discussed how quickly the ramp could be removed, but that issue arose because someone might have wanted to remove the mobile home.  Here, where the building is very unlikely to be moved, the speed of removal matters much less.



c. Need for Escrow:  24 CFR §100.203 allows the landlord in an RM case to ask for money to be placed in escrow to cover the cost of restoration of the premises.  However, there are at least three arguments that this might not be appropriate here:

(i)  The regulation allows the landlord to insist on the escrow “where it is necessary in order to ensure with reasonable certainty that funds will be available to pay for the restorations….” Here, it is possible that the plaintiffs’ financial position is strong enough to make this unnecessary.

(ii)  Both §3604(f)(3)(A) and §100.203 only refer to restoring “the interior of the premises.”  The ramp is obviously not part of the interior, so restoration might not be required at all.

(iii)  Even if restoration of the exterior might be required in some cases, the statute and the regulation on require restoration that is “reasonable.”  The examples in the regulation state that restoration is not necessary  where the modification “will not interfere in any way with the landlord's or the next tenant's use and enjoyment of the premises and may be needed by some future tenant.”  The parties will argue about whether this is true of the ramp.


4. Reasonable Accommodations:  RA analysis would apply here to the request to have the ramp installed at the owners’ expense.  The “reasonableness” analysis would be the same as for the RM claim, with the additional consideration of the cost to the owners.  We talked at some length (in the context of Congdon) about how you might analyze whether placing a monetary burden on the landlord constitutes an “undue hardship.”  I deliberately made the higher cost figure $65,000—the same as the cost in Congdon—to encourage you to compare the two cases.  The first model answer does a nice job laying out several ways in which the facts are more favorable for the plaintiffs here.


5. Common Problems:  



a.  RA/RM are Different From Refusal to Rent Claims:  The plaintiffs did not claim that they were rejected for the apartment because of Trace’s disability. A refusal to rent claim would require proof of discriminatory intent.  By contrast, the RA/RM claims do not require discriminatory intent; a denial for any reason is sufficient to trigger the claim if the requested RA/RM is both necessary and reasonable.

(b) FHA Disparate Treatment:  Interracial Couple:  I thought this was the weakest of the three claims for the plaintiffs, but Edna’s remarks almost certainly provide enough evidence to go to a jury.  I primarily was looking for the best arguments on each side about the evidence.


Ds Legitimate Reason: The obvious choice is CC being BC’s Daughter  (not illegitimate for FHA purposes).  The Ds might also claim it was because of CC being a lawyer or her personality, but that’s not what they told the Ps and you have little evidence to support such a claim (negotiations went on a long time after Linc was aware of those things).  The Ds might also talk about not wanting to build the ramp, but that’s only legit if they win on the first claim.  Moreover, Linc said in the final phone call that they could have made the ramp work.



P’s Ultimate Burden/ Proof of Discrimination:  This is the heart of the problem.  Many of you glossed over this step or suggested that the evidence was overwhelming for one side or the other.  It isn’t.  A lot of evidence is relevant but not conclusive.  Some thoughts on the evidence here:  


(i) Conversation between Edna & Trace: This contains the plaintiffs’ best evidence, but it certainly isn’t conclusive for either side.  When asked, “You mean with a white woman?”  Edna responds, “No. Well, yes. No, not really.”  You might read this as admitting her concern with race, but them fumbling around trying to cover.  You also might read it as trying awkwardly to articulate her as-yet-unidentified discomfort with CC’s resemblance to her father. 


Many of you sensibly discussed the similarity to Sorenson here. As in Sorenson, Edna’s “yes” is relevant evidence, but she’s allowed to try to explain it away.  The better discussions noted that the “yes” in Sorenson was better evidence because it was responding to a question about the reason for the eviction.  Here, Edna is only referring to the reason for her question about the couple ending up together.   




(ii) Timing of Decision:  The timing is most consistent with CC’s father being the real reason for the denial.  After the crucial conversation, the landlords again met with CC and appeared to be negotiating seriously about the front ramp until Edna recognized her.   However, you could argue that, after the initial shock wore off, the landlords deciding on the basis of CC’s father is sufficiently irrational that it must be covering for something else or that E exaggerated her shock to provide a pretext. 



(iii) Other Relevant Evidence: 

· Several students cleverly noted that evidence of the racial make-up of the building (particularly interracial couples) would be very helpful.

· A number of students argued that because the landlords were African-American, it was unlikely they would discriminate based on race.  I’m very skeptical, particularly when the claim involves an interracial couple.  Lots of people of many races dislike “mixed marriages.”  .

· One fact I gave you that nobody picked up on was that, as in Cato, Linc made most of the business decisions for the Larkins. This makes it less likely that the decision rested on any mild discomfort Edna had with the race of the plaintiffs.  It is more likely that Linc would want to protect his wife from the much stronger reaction Edna had when she recognized CC as BC’s daughter.

(c) Unruh Act: Denial of BC’s Daughter as Arbitrary:  


1.  What I Was Looking For  I thought this was an interesting question that did not resolve itself easily (although most students were quite sure of one position or the other).  On the one hand, refusing to rent to CC because of things her father did years ago seems “arbitrary” in the sense the case uses it:  Her father has little to do with her qualifications to rent or to her likely behavior as a tenant, particularly since the Ls know that she differs greatly from her father in her politics.  To the extent the refusal is based on a fear she will be like her father, it seems the sort of stereotype or generalization the case rejects.


On the other hand, her presence alone might be very traumatic to Edna; she apparently looks like her father.  Moreover, as a couple of students cleverly noted, should Edna have to fear that the father comes to visit?  This is not a blanket exclusion of a group of people based on a generalization, but a way to deal with a harm that likely is triggered by CC and almost nobody else.  


In the end, this comes down to a policy choice about the relative importance of the landlords’ and tenants’ respective interests. A court might decide that landlords should have the right to protect their own feelings by excluding people in situations like this, particularly as there’s no reason to think that this kind of problem occurs often enough to make it difficult for people like CC to find housing.  A court might also decide that CC should not have to suffer simply because of her father’s actions, which would be not all that different than excluding Germans or Russians as a group because of the way one of those nations might have treated you or your parents.  

Student Answer #1:  This was the strongest overall answer to this question, one of only a few to address reasonable accommodations separately from modifications and to provide solid two-sided discussion on all three claims.  The student sees most of the issues on the first claim, although the discussion is not always as tight to the doctrine or as in depth as might have been ideal.  There is a strong discussion of the available evidence on the race claim and a pretty good discussion of the Unruh Act issue (which could be developed more). 
Failure to grant Reas Acc: 3604 (f)(3)(b)/ 100.204:  demand to build a ramp at the owner's expense. Here P is obviously handicapped (in a wheelchair). P will argue that the accommodation is necessary for PWD to have equal access to the unit. P could not get into building w/out assistance of doorman (climbing steps). This is a great burden for P, BUT the burden on the D is a substantial financial burden. The P wants the D to build a ramp for no less than $38k, and maybe even more than $65k. $65k was specifically rejected in Congdon. However, P is willing to sign a 5-yr lease, where P in Congdon was only a month-month tenant. Furthermore, in Congdon, D offered alternatives such as a ground floor apt, whereas here, D seems obstinate. However, there may be no claim at all because D never actually rejected paying for the installation of a ramp, "I wasn't crazy about the ramp... well we might have worked that out." Because of the great financial burden, D probably doesn't have to install an expensive ramp at their own expense.

Reasonable Mod: 3604(f)(3)(a) / 100.20:  Generally:: P should be allowed to build at own cost. Only burden on D is if the ramp somehow lowers the value, so may be proper insistence to build a 65k ramp v. 38k. However, even the less expensive ramp would probably be OK if the court followed Freer which allowed for the P to install a ramp of their choosing as long as it did not infringe on public safety (trip hazard) and was easily removable. The requirement to climb 6 steps in the front or even 3 steps in the back would create enough of a burden on the P to require some sort of reasonable modification allowed by the D.

Insistence on rear entrance:  Would have to go uphill or downhill to get to bus station in a wheelchair for a block. Furthermore, he would have to open 2 sets of heavy metal doors, to then go down a long hallway. Landlord (LL) will insist they have gone so far out of their way to create an ambiance with the marble floors, and to install a ramp that was not completely amazing (i.e. $65k ramp) would create a fundamental alteration of the facility by ruining the atmosphere. However, this is highly debatable, and the policy of the FHAA would be in favor of the P to let them install a ramp at their cost to the front of the building.

Escrow Acct:  While the D might demand a K provision that would force the P to put the premises back to the condition they were in prior to modification, they cannot force an escrow acct to be held. Furthermore, there is nothing that would support a theory that  a ramp would somehow lower the value of the building, and even a K to return premises to their original place would seem unnecessary, there is no threat to public safety or any other really good reason for the LL to force removal of the ramp at end of tenancy.

Disparate treatment/ denial of housing based on race:  While the P may want to bring a Mc-D plea to the court, this is prob unnecessary as there is direct proof of disc by the direct statements of the LL "how did you end up..  white woman... yes". Furthermore, the burden would still inevitably rest on the P to prove that any reasons given by the D were mere pretext. Therefore a direct proof COA brought under 3604(a) would be fine here. 
Here, P will claim the direct statements made by LL about a black man being married to a white woman, coupled with E's reaction when she saw C. D will point out that similar to Sorenson, she responded "yes" to a racially charged question, but the rest of her conversation sought to clarify. She immediately follows up with "no not really". Furthermore, she discusses how C wears a lot of hairspray (nothing protected about that... thank god!). But, P will counter saying further statements were made, "when I look at you... something just bothers me." However, D will contend like Frazier (LL rightfully refused housing because he was being called a racist, which made him uncomfortable) the actual denial only came because of the conduct of P, here E had been beaten by the MD police dept in which the daughter of the police chief was now requesting housing. Everyday C walked in the door, E would have to remember the brutal painful memories of that beating. However, P will rightfully point out, that her conduct is exactly the opposite of what E is afraid of, she's a lawyer championing the rights of Afri Am like E & L. 
What is missing here is a very valuable piece of info: what is the neighborhood composition? have other inter-racial couples had similar problems (send in testers)? We only have limited information to go off of, and there's somewhat of an irony of calling a black couple racists, but here, there are direct statements made to the D on different occasions to backup and definitely support a possible claim of denial.

Disparate Treatment/ Arb disc based on Unruh:  Unruh act disallows arbitrary disc on any group based on stereotypes. Here, P will contend D disc based on family connection to her father a known racist. However, Unruh does not apply to conduct, rather stereotypes. Here, D was beaten up and has a rightful fear of racist people like P's dad as she was directly affected. but similar to above, that's P's dad not P's conduct. D’s argument is tenuous as it seems to apply more to the stereotype that anti-disc leg seeks to remove. Here, any family connection to a perceived black sheep of family would be a class of people singled out and rejected housing, while this may not necessarily be a large block of people it does tend to fit the profile Unruh was seeking to protect which was misguided arbitrary disc (here, believing a civil rights atty is a racist). 
Student Answer #2 (Issue #1): This was probably the strongest answer on the disabilities issues, seeing most of the major concerns and clearly separating the accommodations from the modifications claims. 

Failure to grant reasonable accommodations: The issue is whether the Larkins violated 3604(a) by not agreeing to install a ramp.  Two elements to consider in determining whether a person with disabilities should receive accommodations are 1) is the accommodation  necessary; 2) is it reasonable?.  An accommodation is considered reasonable if there is no undue hardship or substantial burden on D, and no fundamental alteration to the program.  The ramp is necessary for Trace Turnblad (TT) to access the building.  This is evident by the amount of assistance it takes for him to enter the building and get up the stairs.  This could also be humiliating for TT.  He could not exit or enter the building ever by himself because he requires the assistance of others.  This is an obvious burden if every time you leave the apt, you must be with someone or ask the doorman for help.  

The Larkins will argue, however, that there is a substantial burden on them in installing the ramp.  The ramp costs anywhere from 38k to 65k which a considerable expense.  In weighing the how much this will burden D, it is important to look at how many units are in the building, how much they charge for rent, to see if this is really a huge expense for them.  Also, they may be able to attract more disabled tenants by installing the ramp which may bring them profits.  The Larkins, on the other hand, would argue that installing a ramp would alter the building, and ruin the aesthetics.  It is not clear whether this is a historic building or not, but installing a ramp in the front of a fancy building with marble steps might detract from the aesthetics.  This could result in people having less of an interest to rent in the building.  The last element to consider is whether there is fundamental alteration to the program.  The ramp would not affect other residents entry into the building so therefore, there is no fundamental alteration to the housing.  The ramp allows for more people to access the building, it does not take away from people's access.  

Failure to grant reasonable modifications: The burden on the Larkins is somewhat less of an issue once Cornelia Collins (CC) offers to pay for the ramp.  This brings us into the realm of reasonable modifications (RM).  The HUD regulations state that "it is unlawful for any person to refuse to permit, at the expense of a handicapped person, RM of existing premises, occupied or to be occupied by a handicapped person, if the proposed modifications may be necessary to afford the handicapped person full enjoyment of the premises of a dwelling."  Furthermore, a landlord may condition his permission for a RM on the renter agreeing to restore the interior of the premises to the condition that existed before the modification.  The proposed modifications are necessary for TT to fully enjoy the premises (see above).  

The Larkins proposed an alternative modification of putting the ramp in the back of the building where it would be less noticeable not detract from the aesthetics of the front.  However, this alternative is not really plausible.  TT would have to traverse up and down hills in his wheelchair in order to use get to the bus stop from the back entrance.  The Larkins might argue that this is San Fran, and in order for TT to get around anywhere his going to have to go up and down hills.  This is not a valid argument because TT should not have to go up and down hills in a wheelchair when accessing his home- where he will be coming and going all the time.  Therefore, the alternative proposed by the Larkins does not seem rational.  It becomes a question of who bears the greater burden.  Is it more of a burden on the Larkins to have the ramp in the front, or on TT to have the ramp in the back.  


The Larkins wanted CC and TT to remove the ramp when the moved out of the building.  CC said that the Larkins did not need to remove the ramp.  The statute only calls for the restoration of the interior of the premises.  Arguably the ramp only affects the exterior and therefore, CC and TT would not have to pay to remove the ramp.  Also, there is a question of whether the Larkins must accept CC's proposal for a cheaper ramp.  If they can get approval from the zoning board they may have to accept the cheaper version b/c essentially CC is paying for it, and the difference in the burden on the Larkins might not be much more significant with the cheaper ramp.  It seems likely that a court would find that the Larkins violated 3604(a) by not agreeing to let the ramp be installed in the front of the building.  

Student Answer #3 (Issues 2 & 3):  This was clearly the strongest answer on the Unruh Act cause of action; the student really understood the difficulties at the heart of the problem.  The answer also includes solid analysis of the race claim, particularly working through the prima facie case, although I think the student leans more toward the plaintiffs than the evidence warrants.
Disparate Treatment, Denial of Housing Because of Race:  P:  D asked "how did you end up with her?" the tone, and the emphasis placed on the her, from a black woman to a black man could easily be construed (and could possibly be) racism based on the color of C's skin.  

P responded, “to a white woman?”  D will argue that at this point, being accused of racism, made her already feel uncomfy with this particular tenant, and at that point there is a non-discriminatory reason to not rent, but the conversation continued

P: D ADMITTED that it was because she was white, She said "yes..." then tried to cover her tracks as quickly as she could with 'well no not really" She tried to cover up her faux pas with talking about her hairspray used in Cornelia's hair, arguably an attempt to cover up the already discriminatory comment about him being married to a white woman. She has successful exposed her disdain towards white women marrying a black woman, between the yes and the how did you end up with her.  D then digs the hole more (puts in her foot in her mouth more, pick an analogy) when she says, there is something when I see the two of you together something bothers me (interracial married couple!)


To this argument, D will argue that it was that the statement was because D was getting a feeling that Cornelia was the police chief's daughter and it wasn't more seeing them together then seeing her at all and reminding her about her past and the abuse she suffered.  The way she said it though, coupled with the other comments above indicate that at this point it is less about the fact that Cornelia was the police chief's daughter and more about the interracial marriage.

The defendants will argue that they were going to rent the apartment to the couple even knowing they were an interracial couple, as they were going through what would have been a waste of time to figure out how to build a ramp if they had NO intention of allowing these people to move in.  They even had estimates done.
Defense will argue she was rejected because of the cost of the ramp and because Cornelia was the daughter of someone who was beaten by a police chief.  It was a comfort thing, not a race thing, and definitely not because Trace married a white woman. Plaintiffs can establish as seen above that the defendants already demonstrated adverse feelings towards the interracial couple looking at their apartment.  

Arbitrary Discrimination/Unruh Act:  Marina Point was a court ruling that stated a test that made arbitrary discrimination based on a class of people a violation of the Unruh Act.  The court further ruled that the Unruh Act was illustrative not exclusive.  Can't discriminate based on arbitrary classification.  The question is whether deciding not to rent the Kin of Bull Collins is an arbitrary classification.

Looking from Edna's point of view, she was one of the many many blacks beaten by Collins’s police while demonstrating about integration at a dance club.  Because of her color and her belief, she was beaten.  That would definitely qualify as a non-arbirtrary reason to discriminate against Collins, and not allowing him to rent in her building.  It is a personalized reason, as he knew what his minions were doing and in some cases presumably ordered it.

The issue is whether, because of this horrible traumatizing experience, she can discriminate against his family.  Is it arbitrary to discriminate against someone just because they happen to be blood related to a killer?  Is “the apple doesn't fall too far from the tree?” and the closeness of relation, especially between a father and a daughter, enough to overcome the arbitrary standard?
Cornelia in no way had followed in her father's white racist footsteps, instead becoming a strong advocate for blacks.  Trace even told the story of when he first saw her arguing for the black kids in a raggedy ass school district.  By all definitions, she wasn't following her father's footsteps but instead was going against him, very strongly.  She even seemed extremely embarrassed and stammered an apology for her father's behavior. Do a man's sins follow his child, no matter how much that child tries to repent? [MAF: Unto the seventh generation!]  

But it can be considered arbitrary and thus not a decision based on personality and the person themselves, to discriminate against a member of a family solely because they are a member of that family.  It isn't her fault her father was a racist who condoned the beating of blacks.  She also chose her own path, which Edna was aware of because Trace told her. Cornelia, like Edna fled across the country from Baltimore to San Fran to possible escape her father's reputation.  Should it follow her wherever?  She is nothing like him, and maybe believing that she is provides an arbitrary assumption.

Marina Point was about discrimination of children, because AS a CLASS they are rowdier and more destructive to property.  It was an arbitrary discrimination based on a stereotype.  It is also a stereotype that a child will end up just like her father, and that she can't successfully shake of her childhood and the hatred her father probably tried to instill into her.  It is understandably hard to look at the daughter of the man who ordered your abuse and not see and relive what happened.  The problem is, discriminating against his children because he was a jerk, is that arbitrary?
Judging someone based on who they chose to engage with is not arbitrary, birds of a feather flock together.  But judging based on what a father is like, when you don't pick your father is more arbitrary and not personalized.  Even judging a black man who marries the white daughter of the man who beat black people, and refusing to rent to him because of WHAT he married, is relatively arbitrary.  He didn't marry her father, he fell in love with her and married the daughter, the civil rights advocate who fought for rights of blacks her father tried so hard to destroy.  

Maybe the personal connection here, that she was personally beaten makes this not arbitrary, maybe it doesn't.  It would be more likely to be arbitrary by another black who was never in Baltimore, to discriminate against Cornelia, because there is even less of a personal connection.
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